

Chief Executive: Peter Holt

# Scrutiny Committee: Stansted Airport Review

Date: Thursday, 14th July, 2022

**Time:** 7.00 pm

**Venue:** Council Chamber - Council Offices, London Road, Saffron Walden,

CB11 4ER

**Broadcast:** 

https://uttlesford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=139&Mld=6046

**Chair:** Councillor N Gregory

Members: Councillors C Criscione, G Driscoll, V Isham, R Jones, P Lavelle,

G LeCount (Vice-Chair), S Luck, G Sell and J De Vries

**Substitutes:** Councillors M Caton, P Fairhurst, R Pavitt and G Smith

# **Public Speaking**

At the start of the meeting there will be an opportunity of up to 15 minutes for members of the public to ask questions and make statements, subject to having given notice by 12 noon two working days before the meeting. A time limit of 3 minutes is allowed for each speaker.

Those who would like to watch the meeting live can do so by accessing the live broadcast **here**. The broadcast will start when the meeting begins.

The Council Chamber is subject to capacity limits and seats will be available on a first come first serve basis. Please contact Democratic Services if you wish to reserve a seat. Contact details and further information on public speaking arrangements can be found overleaf.

# AGENDA PART 1

# **Open to Public and Press**

1 Apologies for Absence and Declarations of Interest

To receive any apologies for absence and declarations of interest.

2 Report of the Task and Finish Group on the Stansted Airport 5 - 66 Review

To consider the report of the Task and Finish Group on the Stansted Airport Review.

## MEETINGS AND THE PUBLIC

Following the lifting of Covid-19 restrictions, and in accordance with the Council's risk assessment, Council, Cabinet and Committee meetings have returned to inperson and are held in the Council Chamber. However, due to capacity considerations in line with the Council's risk assessment, those wishing to listen to or watch meetings will continue to be encouraged to access the live broadcast until further notice.

All agendas, minutes and live broadcasts can be viewed on the Council's website, through the Calendar of Meetings.

Members of the public and representatives of Parish and Town Councils are permitted to speak or ask questions at this meeting and are encouraged to do so in person. If you wish to make a statement, you will need to register with Democratic Services by midday two working days before the meeting. There is a 15-minute public speaking limit and 3-minute speaking slots will be given on a first come, first served basis.

In certain circumstances, virtual attendance can also be provided using Zoom; please contact Democratic Services for further information. Those wishing to contribute via Zoom will require an internet connection and a device with a microphone and video camera enabled.

Guidance on the practicalities of participating both in-person or via Zoom will be given at the point of confirming your registration slot. If you have any questions regarding participation or access to meetings, please call Democratic Services on 01799 510 369/410/467/548. Alternatively, enquiries can be sent in writing to committee@uttlesford.gov.uk.

The agenda is split into two parts. Most of the business is dealt with in Part I which is open to the public. Part II includes items which may be discussed in the absence of the press or public, as they deal with information which is personal or sensitive for some other reason. You will be asked to leave the meeting before Part II items are discussed.

Agenda and Minutes are available in alternative formats and/or languages. For more information, please call 01799 510510.

# **Facilities for People with Disabilities**

The Council Offices has facilities for wheelchair users, including lifts and toilets. The Council Chamber has an induction loop so that those who have hearing difficulties can hear the debate.

If you are deaf or have impaired hearing and would like a signer available at a meeting, please contact <a href="mailto:committee@uttlesford.gov.uk">committee@uttlesford.gov.uk</a> or phone 01799 510369/410/467/548 prior to the meeting.

# Fire/Emergency Evacuation Procedure

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the building by the nearest designated fire exit. You will be directed to the nearest exit by a designated officer. It is vital that you follow their instructions.

# For information about this meeting please contact Democratic Services

Telephone: 01799 510 369/410/467/548 Email: <a href="mailto:committee@uttlesford.gov.uk">committee@uttlesford.gov.uk</a>

# **General Enquiries**

Council Offices, London Road, Saffron Walden, CB11 4ER Telephone: 01799 510510 Fax: 01799 510550

Email: <u>uconnect@uttlesford.gov.uk</u>
Website: <u>www.uttlesford.gov.uk</u>

# Agenda Item 2

14th July 2022

Committee: Scrutiny Committee Date:

**Title:** Report of the Task and Finish Group on

Stansted Airport Review

**Report** Peter Holt, Chief Executive

Author: pholt@uttlesford.gov.uk

01799 510400

# **Summary**

1. This report from the Task and Finish Group on the Stansted Airport Review, and includes both the report of the independent expert reviewer, as well as our commentary on it, to aid the debate first at Scrutiny, and then at full Council.

2. The independent expert review report draws together the key chronology of events; adds an analysis compared to established good practice; and reaches informed conclusions and makes a range of recommendations thereon.

#### Recommendations

- 3. That Scrutiny receives the report of the independent expert reviewer.
- 4. That Scrutiny has its own debate on this report, aided and informed by the views expressed variously by this Task and Finish Group, as detailed later in this report.

# **Financial Implications**

5. There are no further immediate financial costs associated with the presentation of this review report. Full Council will receive an action plan designed to deliver the important learning derived from this independent expert review. That action plan will have some modest financial implications (for example, around the introduction of further training) but will in the longer term provide for the avoidance of substantial further costs to the authority.

# **Background Papers**

- 6. The following papers were referred to by the author in the preparation of this report and are available for inspection from the author of the report.
  - Report of the independent expert review [appendix A]

#### **Impact**

7.

Communication/Consultation	The Task and Finish Group has considered
	the report prior to its publication, so there

	has been no wider engagement at this stage. The independent expert reviewer did engage directly with various parties involved in the review.	
Community Safety	None	
Equalities	Smoother future operations of the planning function will benefit all residents generally, but particularly those with greatest relative disadvantage and influence.	
Health and Safety	None	
Human Rights/Legal Implications	The legal implications are dealt with extensively in the body of the report.	
Sustainability	Smoother future operations of the planning function will aid maintenance and enhancement of a sustainable local environment	
Ward-specific impacts	All wards	
Workforce/Workplace	A number of workforce and staffing implications are dealt with in the body of the report.	

## 8. Situation

# 8.1 Full Council in January 2021:

RESOLVED: As all Members will be aware, it is unconstitutional for Members to direct officers on legal matters, including upon planning appeals. However it is agreed that it is vital that Members are able to question Council officers and their representatives fully about the Stansted Airport planning appeal process. Council therefore calls for a full debate, by way of a further member briefing, allowing for additional full and democratic questioning concerning the appeal process, to take place immediately on conclusion of this council meeting. The briefing shall relate to the current status and process that has been followed by the Council's Defence Team since January 2020 in order that members and officers may engage collectively and fully to further the understanding of all members. The objectives of such a briefing would be to satisfy the Council of the soundness and objectives of the process to date and henceforth intended. Furthermore, Council calls on the Scrutiny Committee, at the appropriate time, to consider whether there is a need to initiate a Member-led review and, if so, to engage with the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) or similar body to audit and scrutinise the process which commenced under the previous Administration in 2018. The substantive motion was carried 28 for, 2 against and 7 abstentions.

- 8.2 In turn, Scrutiny established a Task and Finish Group to work with Officers to commission and deliver this independent expert review report to Scrutiny, with the following terms of reference:
  - "what actually happened" from the start of pre application discussions in 2017 to the recommendation to approve the Planning Application, to its refusal through to appeal and PIN's decision, up to the Full Council decision not to pursue and challenge the dismissal on the papers of the s288 application under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990;
  - 2. whether all steps and actions accord with the Councils Constitution;
  - 3. whether all steps and actions accord with best practice (planning and governance); and
  - 4. the lessons to be learnt and what recommendations should be made in relation to future applications and decisions.
- 8.3 The members of that Task and Finish Group were Cllrs Coote, Criscione, Fairhurst, Khan, and chaired by Cllr LeCount. During the course of the work, Cllr Jones was appointed, and Cllr Coote left the group on joining the Cabinet, replaced by Cllr Driscoll. The lead officer supporting the Task and Finish Group was Jane Reynolds, and it was also assisted ably by colleagues from democratic services and latterly by the chief executive.
- 8.4 It's important to reflect that the Terms of Reference were explicitly set after a discussion to focus initially on looking to the past to understand what happened but predominantly so as to look to the future to identify lessons that can positively be applied for the future. The Task and Finish Group approached this task collegiately, across party lines, and adopted this focus unanimously.
- 8.5 The next task for the Group was to work with Ms Reynolds to recruit an independent expert to undertake this review, consider all the evidence, and write their report.
- 8.6 The Group established clearly and again unanimously the skillset needed for this independent expert, namely an expertise and considerable experience in: planning law; good governance and decision-making; and in technical planning matters in particular.
- 8.7 We were delighted that Ms Reynolds was able to recruit Stuart Andrews from Evershed Sutherlands who is both an experienced planning lawyer as well as being dual-qualified also as a town planner and Member of the Royal Town Planning Institute.
- 8.8 The members of the Task and Finish Group assisted in scoping out the evidence bundle that our independent, expert reviewer worked his way through. Later, once the reviewer had completed his first draft, the Group considered the full list of evidence he had considered, including extra evidence he had identified during the course of his work, so as to sense check that this was sufficiently full.
- 8.9 In terms of the breadth of evidence considered, it is important to note that this was predominantly written, as the Task and Finish Group concluded,

- aided by the advice from the independent expert reviewer that this was sufficient, and that the prospect of taking oral evidence from potentially a wide range and large number of Councillors, Officers and external parties involved would be prohibitively large to the point of being entirely impractical.
- 8.10 It would be appropriate to acknowledge that on this particular point there has not been a consensus amongst the Group, with some members preferring that a much larger and extensive piece of work had been undertaken to take oral evidence to supplement the many thousands of pages of written documentation considered by the independent expert reviewer. The Chief Executive has advised that efforts to restart the independent review process at this stage with an extra oral evidence gathering phase would be high effort and high cost and cause considerable delay, but also be most unlikely to lead to any clear additional evidence as interviewing dozens of members, former staff members and QCs/barristers no longer in Uttlesford's employ, about several meetings over many hours of free-flowing discussion several years ago, unsupported by any useful official notes would lead to further confusion not further clarity.
- 8.11 Nonetheless, the review continued on the basis of the wide range of evidence available, and the independent expert reviewer considered that this was sufficient for him to be able to reach strongly evidenced conclusions.
- 8.12 Once the report was completed, the Task and Finish Group received it in confidence, and met twice to discuss it before it was presented to Scrutiny.
- 8.13 The Group, in those two meetings, made a range of comments and observations as recorded below, which are offered to Scrutiny to help shape the debate.
- 8.14 As indicated below, all of these points enjoy the consensus support of the cross-party Task and Finish Group. Notwithstanding that consensus on those points, a dissenting minority report from two of the six members of the Task and Finish Group is attached as an appendix, so that their concerns can be shared openly with other Councillors and members of the public.
- 8.15 We hope that these comments from the Cllrs who accepted and have closely together on this task will assist Members on Scrutiny, and then all Members at full Council in their debate.

	Consensus/ minority opinion
	[to be indicated for each item]
Good governance – good record keeping as the basis for good decision making	Consensus
The Task and Finish Group strongly endorses the analysis that	

	informal briefing/Q&A sessions between Members and officers and/or external experts [in the case of this issue, various QCs] whilst useful in and of themselves, are potentially problematic should the specific outcomes of those meetings not be properly recorded – noting in this case that there was no proper audit trail. The Task and Finish Group therefore strongly advises that the Council adopts a formal new process to capture the relevant outcomes of such discussions, so that they can be available to and properly inform those taking key decisions, as well as there being a proper record.	
-	Governance – clarity around officer and member roles	Consensus
-	The Task and Finish Group shares the analysis that it is problematic in terms of perception, understanding and lasting accountability when decisions of Planning Committee [in this case, to reject an application] once delegated to Officers to complete the Decision Notice and/or to defend at Appeal, seek to achieve the agreed Member intention by way of translating the decision into one to accept subject to strict and onerous conditions. The Task and Finish Group, without any criticism of Officers for using their professional endeavours in seeking to achieve the original intended outcome decided by Members in such cases once delegated to them, strongly endorses the need to introduce a proportionate system where any such changes of this fashion undertaken by Officers are appropriately reported back to the original Committee.	
Governance – rare cases in which it is appropriate to review existing formal decisions in light of emerging circumstances		Consensus
•	The Task and Finish Group shares the analysis that there are on rare occasions in which a decision properly taken by Members is, on further analysis, going to develop risks of such serious negative implications to the authority that it would be wise to review that decision. The Task and Finish Group therefore strongly endorses the need to introduce a proportionate system that balances these emerging and evolving risks with the underlying democratic principle that decisions properly and lawfully taken by Members must ultimately hold sway.	
Governance – the tension between overall financial implications and the quasi judicial taking of individual planning decisions		Consensus
•	The Task and Finish Group shares the analysis that it is right and proper that decisions taken by the Planning Committee when considering individual applications are quasi judicial, and must be taken on their own merits properly in accord with established good practice, considering all relevant factors and disregarding all irrelevant factors. In this context, the Task and	

Finish Group further shares the analysis that the 'financial implications' section of reports on specific planning applications must not overly sway the individual decision merely because of the potential direct cost of an appeal, and further potential costs that may be awarded on top thereof. The Task and Finish Group does though share the analysis that the overall risk to the authority from unreasonableness at a general level of costs from appeals where loss is assessed as substantially likely and costs assessed as large should be appropriately factored into Planning Committee Members' general understanding as part of their overall mandatory training.

# Governance – the shared endeavour between members and officers, and supporting training in respective roles and their proper interaction

Consensus

The Task and Finish Group endorses the analysis that Planning is a shared endeavour between Members and Officers, and that this needs to be a trusting and mutually-supportive partnership to achieve the best outcomes for local residents. The Task and Finish Group therefore endorses the need for measures in the action plan to further strengthen this relationship, and that this includes involving (at a proportionate, and lesser degree) Members who do not sit on the Planning Committee, but who do still have a role in planning, both in representing their residents, and at any times when a planning matter is referred up to full Council for decision to refer back to Planning Committee.

# Governance – management of future planning appeals Consensus

The Task and Finish Group shares the analysis that the management of the Planning Appeal in this case was lengthy, complex and ultimately at a seven figure cost to the authority (even before the airport's costs awarded against the Council have yet been settled), and that with the benefit of hindsight there were substantial issues with how this was approached. The Task and Finish Group strongly endorses that the management of future Planning Appeals should be reviewed accordingly, with new systems introduced to quality assure as appropriate.

# **Risk Analysis**

9.

Risk	Likelihood	Impact	Mitigating actions
Risk that the lessons that can usefully be	2	4	This independent expert review, its cross party oversight

and high degree of
consensus achieved
therein on learning
points, and the officer
action plan all mitigate
this otherwise
substantial risk.

- 1 = Little or no risk or impact

- 2 = Some risk or impact action may be necessary.
  3 = Significant risk or impact action required
  4 = Near certainty of risk occurring, catastrophic effect or failure of project.

#### **UTTLESFORD DISTRICT COUNCIL**

# ADVICE IN AUDIT AND ASSESSMENT OF THE DECISION MAKING PROCESS AND PROCEDURE FOLLOWED BY THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY

#### **RELATING TO THE EXPANSION AND DEVELOPMENT OF STANSTED AIRPORT**

#### 1. Executive Summary

- 1.1 Eversheds Sutherland (International) LLP ("ES") were instructed by Uttlesford District Council ("UDC") to undertake an audit and assessment of the decision making process and procedure relating to the airport expansion scheme proposed by Stansted Airport Limited.
- 1.2 That assessment was undertaken in reliance upon the material reported to the relevant UDC meetings, external legal advice, the evidence presented at Inquiry and the associated appeal and High Court determinations. In turn, ES have not relied upon any verbal evidence, exchanges of correspondence, informal meeting notes or any other uncorroborated material.
- 1.3 UDC's approach to the consideration of the Proposal from submission of the application to the Order of the High Court Judge was flawed. This was a product of overall system failure, rather than at the fault of any individual Councillor or Officer.
- Our review highlights that there were obvious, apparent and pronounced risks to UDC that should have been clearly communicated and understood by all involved and that should have been subject to automatic and ongoing procedures of monitoring and review.
- 1.5 The need for such a review mechanism was twofold. Firstly, Councillors unanimous refusal of the Proposal without clear evidential justification. Secondly, Officers in formulation of the appeal case transitioned from the reasons for refusal to conditional support subject to the provision of an appropriate mitigation package.
- 1.6 There was a clear error of judgment by both Councillors and Officers in failing to secure an automatic review procedure, following the decision of the Extraordinary Committee Meeting in January 2020 to refuse the Proposal against Officer advice.
- 1.7 Notwithstanding the overarching need for both Councillors and Officers to be aware of UDC's Constitution, common sense should have dictated that the profile of the case and the potential reputational and costs consequences of an adverse appeal decision were sufficient to have required an informed and effective review mechanism to assess and minimise all risks.
- 1.8 Whilst such a review mechanism may not have altered the ultimate route that was taken, the apparent weaknesses in communication would have been resolved and an opportunity would have been provided to consider and debate the transitioning appeal case, as it evolved in advance of the Inquiry.

- 1.9 That oversight would have ensured that there would have been absolute clarity between Councillors and Officers in the professional teams transition at Inquiry from the terms of the RoR to the presented case, which was in essence, of conditional approval of the Proposal. The attendant risks of a costs award and reputational damage could also have been made clear.
- 1.10 There was, in addition, a clear and apparent weakness to UDC's central approach at the Inquiry in respect of the proposed use of 'Condition 15' as a mechanism to effectively mitigate and safeguard the appeal proposal. In our view, that condition was succinctly described by the panel of Inspectors as "unnecessarily onerous and misconceived condition that patently fails to meet the relevant tests". Such an interpretation should have been readily apparent to the UDC team and its legal advisors.
- 1.11 The details of our recommendations are included at section 14 of this report, and include the mechanism to provide an automatic referral for an Extraordinary Meeting in specified circumstances and formalise an auditing process by the Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer. Finally, the provision of training and support to both Officers and Councillors should not be overlooked and provides the fundamental foundation to allow for the robust consideration of increasingly complex planning matters.

#### 2. Introduction

- 2.1 ES have been instructed by UDC to undertake an audit and assessment of the decision making process and procedure followed by the local planning authority in connection with the airport expansion scheme proposed by Stansted Airport Limited ("SAL").
- 2.2 UDC have, in particular, asked ES to identify any procedural error in the process and procedure followed in determination of the planning application, the conduct of the appeal proceedings and the subsequent High Court challenge as relates to the Proposal (as defined below). UDC are further concerned to determine if there are any improvements that might be made to the established decision making process to avoid the risk of substantial further costs awards against the local planning authority in the future.
- 2.3 It is important to note this assessment was been undertaken in exclusively reliance upon the material reported to the relevant UDC meetings, external legal advice, the evidence presented at Inquiry and the associated appeal and High Court determinations. ES have deliberately avoided placing any reliance upon any verbal evidence, exchanges of correspondence, informal meeting notes or any other uncorroborated material.
- 2.4 This approach has been taken to limit the scope of the assessment to verified evidence, to avoid the significant expansion of the process into a review of many years of handwritten notes, e-mail exchanges etc. and because all material decisions made in respect of the Proposal will, or should, have been conducted within the terms of UDC's Constitution.

#### 3. **Background**

3.1 The planning application made by SAL was submitted on 22<sup>nd</sup> February 2018 and related to the proposed:

"Airfield works comprising two new taxiway links to the existing runway (a Rapid Access Taxiway and a Rapid Exit Taxiway), six additional remote aircraft stands (adjacent Yankee taxiway); and three additional aircraft stands (extension of the Echo Apron) to enable combined airfield operations of 274,000 aircraft movements (of which not more than 16,000 movements would be Cargo Air Transport Movements (CATM)) and a throughput of 43 million terminal passengers, in a 12-month calendar period" ("the Proposal")

3.2 The Proposal was first reported to Planning Committee with an Officer recommendation for approval (subject to conditions and a S106 Agreement) on 14<sup>th</sup> November 2018. The

Planning Committee followed that recommendation and approved the Proposal subject to the identified conditions and the completion of the S.106 Agreement. This approach was then endorsed by the Secretary of State ("SoS") who confirmed on 20th March 2019 that he would not exercise his discretion to call in the planning application on the grounds that the Proposal did not "involve issues of more than local importance justifying the Secretary of State's intervention".

- There was then a motion put to Full Council on 25<sup>th</sup> April 2019 seeking the instruction of the Chief Executive and relevant officers not to issue a Decision Notice until the related S106 Agreement between UDC and SAL had been entered into and the conditions have been scrutinised, reviewed and approved by the Council's Planning Committee after the local elections. That motion was defeated and Councillor Lodge then presented a requisition for an Extraordinary General Meeting ("ECM") to the Chairman.
- 3.4 A further motion (as amended) was put to an ECM on 28<sup>th</sup> June 2019 seeking the instruction that the Chief Executive and relevant officers should not issue the Decision Notice unless and until the UDC's Planning Committee had sufficient opportunity to consider in detail:
  - 3.4.1 the adequacy of the proposed S106 Agreement between UDC and SAL, having regard to the Heads of Terms contained in the resolution approved by UDC's Planning Committee on 14<sup>th</sup> November 2018; and
  - 3.4.2 any new material considerations and/or changes in circumstances since 14<sup>th</sup>
    November 2018 to which weight may now be given in striking the planning
    balance or which would reasonably justify attaching a different weight to relevant
    factors previously considered;

and thereafter requesting that the Planning Committee determine the authorisation of the issue of a Decision Notice.

- 3.5 That motion was endorsed by the ECM and a Planning Committee meeting was reconvened on 24<sup>th</sup> January 2020. The Planning Committee, on this occasion, resolved to refuse planning permission for the Proposal by reference to the "material change in circumstances since the consideration of the application" on 14<sup>th</sup> November 2018. The Decision Notice was issued on 29<sup>th</sup> January 2020 and identified the following Reasons for Refusal ("RoR"):
  - 1) "The applicant has failed to demonstrate that the additional flights would not result in an increased detrimental effect from aircraft noise, contrary to Uttlesford Local Plan Policy ENV11 and the NPPF.
  - 2) The application has failed to demonstrate that the additional flights would not result in a detrimental effect on air quality, specifically but not exclusively PM2.5 and ultrafine particulates contrary to Uttlesford Local Plan Policy ENV13 and paragraph 181 of the NPPF.
  - 3) The additional emissions from increased international flights are incompatible with the Committee on Climate Change's recommendation that emissions from all UK departing flights should be at or below 2005 levels in 2050. This is against the backdrop of the amendment to the Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) to reduce the net UK carbon account for the year 2050 to net zero from the 1990 baseline. This is therefore contrary to the general accepted perceptions and understandings of the importance of climate change and the time within which it must be addressed. Therefore, it would be inappropriate to approve the application at a time whereby the Government has been unable to resolve its policy on international aviation climate emissions.
  - 4) The application fails to provide the necessary infrastructure to support the application, or the necessary mitigation to address the detrimental impact of the proposal contrary to Uttlesford Local Plan Policies GEN6, GEN1, GEN7, ENV7, ENV11 and ENV13."

- 3.6 SAL submitted a planning appeal against UDC's decision to refuse planning permission on 24<sup>th</sup> July 2020. UDC then instructed Philip Coppel QC and Asitha Ranatunga of Cornerstone Chambers to advise on the local authority's case at appeal and, in turn, expert witnesses were then instructed to advise and give evidence on matters referenced in the RoR including aviation movements, noise impacts, air quality, carbon emissions and the planning balance.
- 3.7 The Planning Inquiry programme was confirmed by the Planning Inspectorate ("PINS") on 12<sup>th</sup> August 2020 and Stop Stansted Expansion (SSE) were accorded the status of a Rule 6 party to the appeal shortly thereafter. UDC then submitted its Statement of Case to PINS on 16<sup>th</sup> September 2020 and, in turn, a general Statement of Common Ground was agreed between UDC and SAL on 28<sup>th</sup> October 2020.
- 3.8 The Inquiry opened on 12<sup>th</sup> January 2021 and was conducted over 30 days of hearing sessions (with adjournments) until it closed on 12<sup>th</sup> March 2021. SAL made a costs claim at the close of the Inquiry and UDC's response was submitted on 9<sup>th</sup> April 2021.
- 3.9 There was then an announcement by the Government in respect of commitments in relation to the reduction of carbon emissions. The Inspectors at the Inquiry invited further submissions in response to this policy announcement on 23<sup>rd</sup> April 2021 and further submissions were made by UDC, SAL and SSE by 7<sup>th</sup> May 2021.
- 3.10 The appeal decision allowing the Proposal and granting a full costs award against UDC was issued by PINS on 26<sup>th</sup> May 2021. UDC lodged a claim for a Planning Statutory Review pursuant to S.288 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 on 7<sup>th</sup> July 2021. The claim citing three grounds of challenge.
- 3.11 The application for permission to apply for Planning Statutory Review was assessed on the papers by the Honourable Mrs Justice Lang DBE and the Order of the High Court was then issued on 1<sup>st</sup> October 2021. The application grounds were all rejected as being "unarguable" and the application for permission was refused.
- Following the decision of the Full Council meeting on 5<sup>th</sup> October 2021, UDC made no further applications to the Appeal Courts to renew the claim for a Planning Statutory Review. Notably, there was also no further action taken by SSE.

#### 4. Approach

- 4.1 It is clear in review of the available background papers that UDC's case in assessment and determination of the Proposal evolved and substantially changed between the submission of the planning application by SAL on 22<sup>nd</sup> February 2018 and the claim presented to the High Court on 7<sup>th</sup> July 2021.
- 4.2 This is reflected in our instructions that are concerned to identify:
  - 4.2.1 "what actually happened" from the start of pre application discussions in 2017 to the recommendation to approve the Planning Application, to its refusal through to appeal and PIN's decision, up to the Full Council decision not to pursue and challenge the dismissal on the papers of the s288 application under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990;
  - 4.2.2 whether all steps and actions accord with the Councils Constitution;
  - 4.2.3 whether all steps and actions accord with best practice (planning and governance); and
  - 4.2.4 the lessons to be learnt and what recommendations should be made in relation to future applications and decisions.

- 4.3 It is, in this context, important to understand each step that was taken by the Council in assessment of the Proposal. In response, the approach adopted in this report is to focus on the issues that were identified in the RoR:
  - 4.3.1 from the first determination which recommended approval;
  - 4.3.2 the second determination that led to the identified RoR;
  - 4.3.3 how the RoR evolved through the appeal process;
  - 4.3.4 the processes and procedures followed in response to the changing RoR case; and
  - 4.3.5 the approach taken in assessment by the Appeal Inspector and, where relevant, the High Court judge.
- 4.4 ES have taken this approach to ensure that the assessment of the key concerns identified at the ECM meeting in January 2020 are examined chronologically and in detail. In turn, the clear intention is to avoid the potential distraction that would be caused in consideration of the array of issues that were identified by local residents and other objectors over the course of the 2-3 years determination period.
- 4.5 This report will then seek to identify any procedural errors and, if there was any clear failures or deficiencies in the decision making process, whether this was due to an error of process, procedure and/or judgement. In each scenario, the report will then seek to identify any steps that might be taken to minimise the risk of any future reputational damage and substantial costs awards against the Council.

#### 5. First determination

As detailed above, the Proposal was first reported to Planning Committee on 14<sup>th</sup> November 2018. The Committee Report provided a substantial and detailed assessment of the Proposal in review of 14 separate topic areas, that included an assessment of noise, air quality, climate change and overall policy compliance. The recommendations made by Officers in respect of these 4 issues were framed in the following terms:

#### 5.2 Noise

- The report uses as a point of reference the Do Minimum (DM) and Development Case (DC) scenarios, in assessment of the 'air noise' produced by aircraft on departure from the start of the departure roll along the runway and, on arrival, ceasing at the point of departure onto a taxiway. In the DC scenario there would be 72 additional movements during the day (712 between 07:00 and 23:00) compared to the DM scenario (640 between 07:00 and 23:00). The night time overflights analysis indicates that there would be little difference between the DM and DC scenarios. The analysis also indicates that at the majority of schools the internal LAmax was acceptable (not expected exceeding 60 dB LAmax) with open windows, due to the noise benefits associated with new generation, quieter aircraft.
- 5.2.2 The report confirms that the findings of the Environmental Statement (ES) were generally accepted by the Council's Environmental Health Manager (EHM) and the consultants BAP, together with the proposed programme of mitigation measures. In conclusion the report advised Members that:

"The ES is comprehensive and UDC's consultants advise that they have no doubts over its integrity. The ES demonstrates that the proposed noise impacts should not be materially different between the DM and DC scenarios."

- 5.2.3 The reports assessment of 'ground noise' references the applicant's ES conclusion in respect of operational noise that there should be no adverse effects, with only minor adverse effects arising at Molehill Green due to a daytime increase of 1dB between the DM and DC scenario and an exceedance of the threshold of only 0.1dB. The EHM further concluded that a comparison of data sets shows negligible impact and that the level change when compared to the DM scenario was equally negligible.
- 5.2.4 In terms of night time noise, the comparison of the ground noise contours with and without the development in place, showed they were virtually indistinguishable throughout the surrounding community, except where benefits would arise at the northside apron where ground noise levels were expected to reduce.
- 5.2.5 The assessment of 'construction noise' and 'surface access noise' were also referenced in the Report and the report briefly concluded that this aspect of the development would be of "negligible significance".

#### 5.3 Air quality

- 5.3.1 The assessment of the air quality impacts of the Proposal are rigorously considered in the report. It was, in this context, generally accepted by UDC's consultants that there should be no predicted increase in pollutant levels at modelled receptors in Stansted Mountfitchet. However, the Proposal would increase pollutant emissions as a result of additional vehicle movements within the Bishop's Stortford Air Quality Management Area. These health effects were considered against the benefits of the scheme and an appropriate balance of mitigation were sought through the S.106 Agreement.
- 5.3.2 The report also references the assessment of nitrogen deposition rates and the available information on sensitive habitats within designated sites. In turn the report advises that UDC's consultant confirms they had no concerns with regards to the identified ecological receptors. Notably, this position appears to have also been reservedly endorsed by Natural England.

#### 5.4 <u>Climate change</u>

- This issue is considered in the report under the general heading of 'carbon emissions'. Notably the report advises that by 2028, between the DM and DC scenarios there would be a 23% increase in the 'million passengers per annum' (mppa), a 10% increase in ATMs (air traffic movements) and a 10% increase in flight carbon emissions. In turn, the carbon intensity of the DC scenario would improve by around 4% (flights only) in 2028 from 105kgCO2/passenger to 100kgCO2/passenger compared with the DM scenario. In the DC scenario, after 2028, passenger numbers would remain around 43mppa and the carbon intensity per passenger would fall to between 56kgCO2/passenger (best practice) and 77kgCO2/passenger (pessimistic). By 2050, the annual flight emissions from Stansted are projected to reduce to between 1.5MtCO2 (best practice scenario) and 2.0MtCO2 (pessimistic scenario). This represents between 4% and 5.3% of the 37.5MtCO2 target for UK aviation by 2050.
- 5.4.2 The report further advises that transport carbon emissions relating to employee and passenger travel to Stansted are the second largest source of emissions after flights, accounting for 6% of the airport's total annual emissions in 2016 and 5% of the total annual emissions in 2023 and 2028. It was predicted that emissions would increase for the DC scenario between 2023 and 2028 as increases in passenger numbers would outweigh the vehicle efficiency improvements.

5.4.3 The report then references the ES conclusions that Stansted Airport's share of UK aviation carbon emissions would rise from 4% in 2016 to between 4% and 5.3% of the UK's aviation emissions target in 2050, that this would not be a substantial change, and with annual aviation carbon emissions predicted to decrease between 2028 and 2050. In conclusion, the report confirms that the DC scenario is unlikely to materially impact the UK's ability to meet its 2050 national aviation target of 37.5MtCO2e and "that the application proposals will not materially impact on the ability of the government to meet its national carbon reduction target".

#### 5.5 Policy compliance

5.5.1 The report provides a comprehensive review of national and local planning policy and reaches an overall conclusion that:

"It is reasonable to consider that the requirement for more intensive use of other airports, such as Stansted, by making best use of their infrastructure, is a government imperative based on evidence and consultation and so can be given significant weight".

- 5.5.2 The report further advices that it is reasonable to attribute significant weight to national policy in support of the best use of existing runways, subject to the environmental impacts being managed or mitigated. The report indicates that it is on this basis that SAL were applying for an increase in passenger numbers from the permitted 35mppa to 43mppa and that this would be achieved within the context of the currently permitted aircraft movements of 274,000 per annum.
- 5.5.3 This limitation on aircraft movement was derived from the extant 2008 planning permission and, in turn, Officers advised that this represented a "realistic fall back position". This then set the context for the determination of the planning application and, taken with the assessment of the other material considerations, informed the overarching recommendation that the application should be approved based on the proposition that:

"Overall, the proposals comply with the relevant local plan policies. The proposals also comply with the material considerations of national policy, the policies as set out in the NPPF (2018), the APF (2013) and the BTH (June 2018), and insofar as it is relevant ANPS (2018). The APF sets out the government's primary objective which is to achieve long-term economic growth. The aviation sector is seen as a major contributor to the economy and its growth is supported but within a framework which maintains a balance between the benefits of aviation and its costs, particularly its contribution to climate change and noise. Whilst issues around climate change and carbon emissions are to be dealt with at a government level, it is considered that this application balances the primary objective of economic growth with the impacts of aviation. Appropriate mitigation measures are identified and could be secured by way of conditions or \$106 Legal Obligation."

5.6 It was, on this basis, that the Officers recommendations were endorsed by the Planning Committee subject to the identified conditions and the completion of a S.106 Agreement.

#### 6. Second determination

6.1 It is important to note in review of the subsequent report presented to the Extraordinary Planning Committee meeting on 17<sup>th</sup> and 24<sup>th</sup> January 2020 (being some 14 months after the first Planning Committee) that it includes reference to those matters agreed at an informal meeting held on 30<sup>th</sup> April 2019 and this confirmed:

"that officers would not complete the section 106 agreement and issue the planning consent for the time being;

that the legal advice previously obtained from Christiaan Zwart, barrister, would be circulated to all members;

that a briefing session would be held for all members, with Christiaan Zwart in attendance to answer questions about his advice;

that, if need be, further advice would be sought at Q.C. level and a further briefing for all councillors would be held. This advice would focus on whether the planning obligation requirements made by the Planning Committee have been incorporated fully and effectively into the s106 agreement, and on the origin and consequences of any "gaps" if any between the Planning Committee Resolution and the resulting S106 Agreement."

- The report then continues to confirm that a briefing meeting for all Councillors was called on 14 May 2019 and that the advice obtained from UDC's barrister, Christiaan Zwart, was circulated prior to the meeting and he then attended to answer questions. Further advice was then obtained from Stephen Hockman QC (working jointly with Christiaan Zwart) and their joint advice was provided prior to a second briefing meeting held on 21 May 2019. Again, they attended this second briefing meeting and answered questions raised by members. Issues raised at the second briefing meeting with members, and by SSE separately, led to additional further advice from Stephen Hockman QC and Christiaan Zwart. This was also shared with Members of UDC.
- Further expert legal advice was then obtained from Philip Coppel QC at the request of Members. The report presented to the Extraordinary Planning Committee confirms that Officers had also been engaged in a series of workshop sessions, in review of the content of the draft S.106 obligations and any other issues that might be raised as potential new material considerations since 14 November 2018.
- This overview provides some context for the Extraordinary Planning Committee report and, very helpfully, provides a public record of the informal meeting programme and the associated legal advice obtained following the earlier resolution and prior to the discussion in January 2020. The content of that advice will be considered in further detail in the next section of this report.
- 6.5 Before turning to the content of the report to the Extraordinary Planning Committee meeting, it is also important to acknowledge that detailed written and oral representations were made to UDC by SSE. The relevance and importance of these representations is reflected in the inclusion of the PowerPoint submissions made by Paul Stinchcombe QC that are attached to the Minutes of that meeting and that identify the following issues were relevant material considerations:

"New evidence relating to aircraft noise and air pollution

Impact of B737 MAX problems

Number of flights

Expansion plans of competitor airports - "Need" case

Climate Change - new evidence, policy developments

Emerging Policy - Local and National

Economic and Employment considerations."

The report to the Extraordinary Planning Committee meeting is surprisingly short in comparison to the November 2018 report and relies on the premise that:

"The starting point for assessment of the Agreement's adequacy is the decision of the Planning Committee on 14 November 2018. It resolved to approve the planning application for the Stansted Airport proposals subject to the applicant entering into planning obligations complying with the Heads of Terms put to the Committee at the meeting. That decision to approve the application implicitly means an agreement that accorded with the Heads of Terms would adequately address the impacts of the proposed development."

6.7 The report further confirms that:

"There are no new material considerations or other change in circumstances that now justify a different overall conclusion."

6.8 It is also noteworthy that the Report makes specific reference to the emerging policy position relating to climate change and advised the Committee that:

"The government has adopted a similar approach in relation to carbon emissions and climate change. Whilst it has put its net zero carbon emissions target on a statutory footing, it has not yet developed a clear set of policies and interventions for achieving that target. There are no policy limits for individual airports that constrain the maximum permitted emissions from aircraft movements to and from each UK major airport.

It is not open to a local planning authority in determining a planning application to seek to anticipate what national policy choices the government may, or should, take. Nor is it appropriate to assume that the government will seek to manage air noise impacts or carbon emissions mainly through land use decisions."

6.9 In conclusion the report confirms that:

"There are no grounds for deeming the S106 Agreement to be inadequate. Further work to review the obligations has been concluded and it has been amended where possible within the legal constraints.

There are no new material considerations that would justify a different decision to that resolved by the Planning Committee on 14 November 2018.

The development plan framework position has not changed materially since 2018.

The decision notice should be issued granting planning permission for the development as proposed in the application subject to the revised planning conditions recommended to the Committee on 14 November 2018, as soon as the appended amended planning obligations have been signed by all parties."

6.10 It is noted that the report concludes with a risk assessment and advises that there is a (Scale 3) significant risk of a "major planning inquiry [that] would require significant reallocation of resources and the use of reserves". Notably, there is no reference to the risk of a costs award in any appeal proceedings and the (Scale 4) level of "near certainty of risk occurring, catastrophic effect or failure of project" was not relied upon in the assessment (despite being specifically highlighted by Leading Counsel).

# 7. **Advice and Briefings**

7.1 It is reasonable to assume that Councillors were aware of the existence of advice notes and opinions obtained from Counsel and Leading Counsel throughout the determination of the Proposal from November 2018 to January 2020. It is also the case, that the signposting of

that advice in the report to the Extraordinary Planning Committee, ensured that Councillors were aware of its existence and could have requested further guidance on the contents from Officers.

7.2 It follows that the advice notes and opinions are an important part of the background to this matter and should be considered as part of the matrix of relevant information.

## 7.3 Advice of Christiaan Zwart dated 28th March 2019

- 7.3.1 This advice note deals exclusively with the lawfulness of the proposed draft planning obligations to be secured by S.106 Agreement in respect of the Proposal and in satisfaction of the resolution of the Planning Committee decision on 14<sup>th</sup> November 2018.
- 7.3.2 The advice concludes that the proposed provisions satisfy the recommendation and the statutory tests contained at Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 (as amended).

#### 7.4 Joint Advice of Stephen Hockman QC and Christiaan Zwart dated 20th May 2019

- 7.4.1 This advice note again deals exclusively with the lawfulness of the proposed draft planning obligations to be secured by S.106 Agreement in respect of the Proposal and in satisfaction of the resolution of the Planning Committee decision on 14<sup>th</sup> November 2018.
- 7.4.2 Again, the advice concludes that the proposed provisions satisfy the recommendation and the statutory tests contained at Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 (as amended).
- 7.4.3 Notably, the advice confirms that the consequences of the earlier determination are that "in law, consistency requires the Council to act consistently with its decision on 14<sup>th</sup> November 2018 in the current absence of alternatives."
- 7.5 It is noted by the reference to the report to the Extraordinary Planning Committee meeting in January 2020, that further advice was then obtained from Stephen Hockman QC and was discussed at a meeting held on 21 May 2019. We understand that no written advice was provide in preparation for this briefing.
- 7.6 ES have been supplied with a handwritten note of that session by way of background information. It is not possible to verify the content of this note and, on this basis, it is only referenced to gain some understanding of the process detailed above. That note would suggest that the briefing related to the content of the earlier advice notes and then potentially extended into a commentary on the capacity/lawfulness of the Planning Committee to refuse the Proposal against Officers recommendations and the risk of an order of costs at appeal.

#### 7.7 Advice of Phillip Coppel QC dated 3<sup>rd</sup> September 2019

- 7.7.1 The advice note confirms that Leading Counsel had attended a meeting with Councillors and Officers on 22<sup>nd</sup> August 2019 to "field questions" arising from the resolution to grant planning permission for the Proposal at the Planning Committee on 14<sup>th</sup> November 2018.
- 7.7.2 The advice references the identified "new material considerations" relating to "climate change and net zero carbon emissions" that had been identified in those discussions. The advice note then confirms the following:

"I confirm the view which I expressed on 22 August 201; namely, given the thorough preparation which preceded the 14 November 2018 meeting, the length, detail and matters of debate, the extensive public preparation and the conspicuous care and fairness of the material before the Committee on that date, it would require weighty different material to warrant a re-evaluation sufficient to justify displacing that resolution with a new resolution. It would be an exceptional thing to do.

Having reviewed again the material with which I have been provided, so far as I can see the matters referred to in the 28 June 2019 motion fall short of constituting good reason for refusing to grant the permission it has already resolved to grant. Absent such good reason, the Committee risks breaching its public law obligation to act consistently and/or reasonably, and being subject to a substantial adverse costs award on any planning appeal that the applicant might bring."

7.7.3 The advice then concludes with a detailed review of this position and at paragraph 46 makes clear:

The most immediate practical consequence of UDC now refusing to grant permission ...without a very good reason for changing its mind, is that STAL would likely appeal against the refusal to the Secretary of State. This would give rise to a lengthy and expensive public inquiry, at which, irrespective of the outcome, UDC would have to meet its own costs. The material with which I have been provided suggests that STAL would be successful in that appeal. In that event, UDC would likely face an application made by STAL for its costs on account of UDC's unreasonable behaviour resulting in STAL incurring wasted or unnecessary cost. I cannot say with any precision what those costs would be, but what I can say is that they would be very significant indeed."

- 7.8 Opinion of Phillip Coppel QC dated 4<sup>th</sup> September 2019
  - 7.8.1 This opinion is concerned with a discrete issue relating to preclusion of Councillors in determination of the Proposal at the forthcoming Committee meeting as a result of apparent bias or predetermination.
- 7.9 Opinion of Phillip Coppel QC dated 13th December 2019
  - 7.9.1 This short opinion starts in reiteration of the advice above from 3<sup>rd</sup> September 2019. The advice then further reviews the content of the revised draft S.106 Agreement and concludes that the revised terms do not give rise to any concerns as to UDC's duty to act consistently or as to general legal compliance.
- 7.10 Further opinion of Phillip Coppel QC dated 10<sup>th</sup> January 2020
  - 7.10.1 This further short opinion again revisits the issue of bias and predetermination by Councillors.
  - 7.10.2 ES are not aware that these earlier concerns have any bearing on this advice note.
- 7.11 Further note of Phillip Coppel QC dated 6<sup>th</sup> January 2021
  - 7.11.1 This further short note was produced in response to 16 questions that were raised by Councillors in respect of the case to be presented at Inquiry on behalf of UDC and the concern of members that the emerging case did not reflect the reasons for refusal. Notably, the short advice note was produced just before the opening of the appeal case.

- 7.11.2 It is important to recognise that the note was produced in the form of an email response and during an intense period of preparation on the eve of the forthcoming Inquiry. As a consequence, the note is in a short form, reflects a tension between the profession team and Councillors and the further apparent tension with the SSE case.
- 7.11.3 The commentary in the note is relevant because in response to the first question Leaning Counsel directly answers the complaint of Councillors that the emerging appeal case for UDC is inconsistent with the RoR. That question was framed as follows:

"How did we get from a unanimous Planning Committee decision to "refuse on the basis that the application to expand Stansted was unsustainable" (based on MAG's 13,000 pages of evidence), to an appeal 'defence' of "approval with conditions" as stated by the defence team at the most recent Briefing?"

7.11.4 The response from Phillip Coppel QC was as follows:

"The words quoted in Q.1 don't appear in my copy of the Decision Notice dated 29/1/20. It is the decision recorded in that Decision Notice that is being appealed. Compliance with UDC's condition 15, together with the other conditions + s 106 agreement, would, according to the professionally qualified experts UDC has engaged, meet the reasons for refusal as recorded in the Decision Notice dated 29/1/20 and be consistent with governing planning policies, both national and local."

7.11.5 Leading Counsel also responded to the final question, which was drawn as follows:

"Considering the controversy and history of this application, the overwhelming support of the district and the amount of time and resources spent on the January Decision, hasn't this matter been allowed to fail without sufficient cabinet oversight?"

7.11.6 His response was:

"No: a robust and sustainable defence of position, supported by all four experts through their detailed and careful proofs of evidence, consistent with planning policy and faithful to the reasons stated in the Decision Notice, has been mounted. Having done so, it would not be sensible for UDC to take flight on the eve of the Inquiry."

#### 8. **UDC's appeal case**

- 8.1 ES are aware from the January 2020 report to the Extraordinary Planning Committee that there were a series of further meetings, discussions and workshop sessions between Officers and Councillors. Again, we have been provided with some handwritten notes of some of these meetings. These notes are incomplete, unverifiable and in places difficult to read. In the circumstances, we do not intend to place any reliance on their content for the purpose of this report.
- There is, on this basis, very little further available information to assist in understanding the processes followed by Officers in preparation of the appeal case. It is, however, reasonable to assume that Officers relied upon the identified RoR in formulation of a case in response to the SAL appeal. It is, in turn, clear that Officers instructed experienced and respected expert witnesses in preparation of their case on those terms.

Statement of Case

- 8.3 The Statement of Case submitted on 16<sup>th</sup> September 2020 identified that the following three concerns of UDC that would be addressed in evidence:
  - 1. "A clear implication arising from STAL's proposals is that they will give rise to a change in air traffic activity at the airport, from that considered and approved in the 2008 appeal, and the environmental impacts arising from this change have not been adequately assessed;
  - 2. There has been a change in circumstances since the ES was published in February 2018, which gives rise to concerns around the robustness of the demand forecast exercise undertaken in support of the application, and whether the forecast can be relied upon for the assessment of environmental impacts; and
  - 3. There has been a change of policy position since the application was submitted in 2018, that was not considered within the application submission, adding to the shortcomings in assessment work." (para.2.1)
- 8.4 The Statement of Case does not follow the normal structure for this form of appeal submission and does not seek to identify those matters that will be disputed in evidence at the Inquiry. To the contrary, the submission confirms that:

"As an outcome of this process, it concluded that the information provided as at January 2020 fell short of that required to properly assess the environmental impacts associated with the Application. Without this information, it was not possible to conclude on the nature of impacts arising, and as a consequence, the adequacy of the proposed mitigation, leading to refusal of the application." (para.5.3)

"UDC will call expert witnesses to demonstrate that there are assessments that should be undertaken in relation to air noise, air quality and carbon emissions and the associated consequences for health and wellbeing of local communities. These may require additional mitigation and alternative controls. If necessary measures are not feasible or enforceable, the appeal should be dismissed." (para.5.4)

#### Opening Submission and Evidence

- 8.5 ES have been provided with copies of the settled expert witness statements and a series of supporting Statements of Common Ground. We have also reviewed the Opening Submissions (OS) made on behalf of UDC and SAL.
- 8.6 Those submissions made by UDC confirm that the Proposal seeks to secure an 8 million increase in the maximum number of passengers arriving or departing form Stansted Airport each year. That is 35 million to 43 million, or some 23%. The attendant consequences would relate to more noise; degraded air quality; greater carbon emissions; and greater infrastructural strain. However, as the UDC submissions make clear:
  - "none of those four reasons expressed an in-principle objection to any form of any development of Stansted. The uniting theme in those reasons is that the developer fell short in convincing Councillors that the development being proposed was sustainable; that the development being proposed was consistent with the planning policies that govern development throughout the district of Uttlesford."
- 8.7 The SAL OS, by comparison, confirm that the appeal was concerned solely with the question of whether SAL should be allowed to undertake a small number of adjustments to its airfield infrastructure (in the form of additional taxiway and stand provision) and then utilise these adjustments to accommodate an eventual annual passenger throughput of 43mppa. That being 8mppa more than the 35mppa presently permitted, whilst remaining within the total number of aircraft movements for which it already has planning permission.

- 8.8 The SAL OS further argued that Government policy (The future use of Aviation: Making Best Use of existing runways (MBU)) relating to the best use of their existing runway capacity could not be a matter for debate at the Inquiry. In turn, the principle of growth to 43mppa was established by national policy and was also not open for debate at Inquiry subject to relevant local considerations being satisfactorily addressed.
- 8.9 It is clear that both OS's seek to confirm then that the issues before the Inquiry related to the impact of the development upon relevant local considerations. In the case of UDC, this is explained at paragraph 34 of the OS:

"Following UDC's decision notice of January 2020, and the developer's decision to appeal in July, the Council assembled a team of independent experts to review the application and take a fresh look at the concerns raised by UDC in its decision. On each of the Reasons for Refusal, specific areas of concern as to the assessment of the impacts on aircraft noise, air quality, and carbon emissions were identified by these experts and included in UDC's Statement of Case [CD24.2, 16 September 2020]. In summary, in material respects, the assessment of aircraft noise, air quality, and carbon emissions in the ES was considered to be lacking, unclear, or not sufficiently evidenced or explained, such that UDC's decision to refuse on the basis of a failure fully to address the impacts was readily understandable and justifiable."

8.10 It is further noted, in response to the further noise assessment contained in the updating Environmental Statement Addendum, that the UDC OS confirmed that:

"The conclusions in the Addendum therefore alleviate many of the valid concerns which lay behind the Reason for Refusal."

8.11 The approach to air quality by UDC is more refined. Whilst acknowledging that the Environmental Statement Addendum updated the assessment and provided some additional information, the Council maintained that the Proposal could still "result in harm to the health of local people and designated nature conservation sites, in contravention of national and local policy and quidance". However, it is noted that:

"Each of the air quality impacts identified by Dr. Broomfield is capable of being mitigated through an appropriate condition or mitigation package. A phased release condition is proposed, allowing for a progressive release of airport capacity, contingent on the demonstration of air quality improvements against the standards which fall to be applied at the time the extra capacity is sought, together with ongoing management."

- 8.12 This is later described in the appeal proceedings by reference to draft Condition 15 and, given SAL's clear objections to this proposition, this in all likelihood explains why SAL didn't take advantage of these concessions and agree conditional terms in a Statement of Common Ground.
- 8.13 The UDC case relating to carbon emissions makes no specific complaint as to unacceptability or policy breach, but rather continues in raising concerns as to the availability of reliable evidence and advise the Inquiry that:

"There remain considerable uncertainties over the quantum of emissions and their significance despite the updates made to the carbon emissions chapter of the Environmental Statement Addendum and associated appendices."

8.14 It was, in this context, that the overall planning balance case was framed on the following basis:

"It is axiomatic to UDC's position that if the developer is to have the benefit of the additional 8mppa which they seek, those benefits are shared with the local communities around the

airport through the capacity increase being tied, as a minimum, to the environmental benefits which the developer says it can achieve over the period they have assessed."

- 8.15 Again, this proposition was put forward in reliance upon draft Condition 15, to which there were 4 proposed limbs:
  - 8.15.1 ties the future growth of the airport in passenger throughput to the predicted environmental benefits and setting these predicted impacts as minimum targets which must be achieved;
  - 8.15.2 limiting growth above 35mppa to phases, to ensure that its future growth and the environmental effects are managed. This would require SAL to submit for approval an 'Environmental Scheme' addressing noise, air quality, and carbon emissions. This would require the submission of the past performance of the Airport across the three topics, and details of the mitigation proposes to reduce emissions over the next phase of development;
  - 8.15.3 for the submissions to be reviewed by UDC with due regard to prevailing legislation and policy as applicable at that time; and
  - 8.15.4 a robust dispute resolution procedure, to ensure all parties operate appropriately in the discharge of their commitments.
- 8.16 The terms of this condition then became the focus of the UDC case, as confirmed in the SAL OS:

"It is fair to summarise the UDC case (as now advanced at this inquiry) as being focused upon securing appropriate planning conditions and obligations; the acceptability of the development in principle is accepted.

Whilst STAL acknowledges the need for appropriate conditions to regulate the future operation of the airport, it cannot support the imposition of a system of "micro-management" such as apparently now proposed by UDC in the form of its new "Condition 15"."

#### Closing Submissions

- 8.17 It is important to acknowledge that the written evidence submitted in the course of the appeal proceedings represent only part of the evidence presented on behalf of UDC and this is particularly the case where the conduct of the proceedings are complex and extend over many sitting days. It is, in consequence, inevitable that appeal cases will evolve and adapt in response to the approach taken by the appointed Inspector and in reliance upon the submissions or concessions made by other parties during the course of the case. This is, in essence, the purpose of the Inquiry process and in overview it is often the Closing Submissions (CS) that best represents the final case presented by the parties.
- 8.18 The CS for UDC provide an overview of the evidence discussed at the Inquiry and, in broad review, would suggest some hardening of the Council's position on the evidence by the close of the Inquiry. It is, however, clear that this approach is principally directed at the focused justification for the imposition of draft Condition 15. This can be seen at paragraph 63 which, by reference to the air quality evidence, confirms the following:
  - "...the measures in the Transport Section of the UU are not specific to air quality, lukewarm with regard to mode share, and heavily qualified, leading to uncertainty as to whether air quality improvements would actually be achieved. Moreover, there is no assessment provided in the ES, ESA, or Dr. Bull's evidence that demonstrates the extent to which these measures would improve air quality. All this, in circumstances where that is the objective of extant and emerging policy."

8.19 Whilst a similar approach is taken in respect of the carbon emission case, the assessment of SAL's case does then rely heavily on the proposition that the MGU is "out of date and should carry little weight in the context of net zero" (para. 91) and the following (somewhat principled) standpoint:

"When viewed together, STAL's refusal to acknowledge relevant and longstanding national planning policy on radically reducing carbon emissions, its misinterpretation of aviation policy in MBU so as to suggest that carbon emissions are a matter to be dealt with at a national level and cannot be considered by LPAs in local decision making (before resiling from that position in oral evidence), its overstatement of the carbon analysis lying behind MBU as "preauthorising" airport growth in carbon terms, and its failure to accept that MBU is now out of date in carbon terms, reflect an airport which is failing to acknowledge and grapple with its responsibilities on carbon emissions. Against a context where, since 1990, the rest of the economy has achieved very significant reductions in CO2, whilst aviation's emissions have more than doubled, STAL's approach at this inquiry, that in policy terms these are not matters for local decision making, is both stark and unbalanced. It is symptomatic of an applicant that has not played its part in the planning process in a way that fostered trust and confidence in anything it said."

8.20 Again, this approach is taken to inform UDC's justification in imposition of Condition 15 as a means of monitoring, assessing and regulating the development. This is based upon the proposition that the proposed condition would enable "future generations to maintain the contemporaneity of environmental mitigation measures as the developer increases by steps the operations allowed by the planning permission" and that this "is necessary so as not to contravene paragraph 7 of the NPPF".

#### **Appeal Decision**

8.21 The case presented by UDC at the Inquiry is further summarised in the appeal Decision Letter in the following terms:

National Aviation Policy and Introductory Matters

"The Council, whilst highlighting the inherent uncertainty in forecasts and projections into the future, did not dispute the appellant's position on forecasting, concluding that the predictions were reasonable and sensible." (para.27)

#### Aircraft Noise

"The Council's position is that the development is acceptable in terms of aircraft noise, subject to suitable mitigation measures." (para.42)

"The Council agrees that this maximum level would ensure that internal noise levels would not exceed 60 dB, with windows open. This provides a good degree of certainty that noise levels would be in accordance with BB93 which states that indoor ambient noise levels should not exceed 60 dB LA1, 30 mins." (para.53)

#### Air Quality

"Although it has raised a number of issues concerning the methodology used and the robustness of the assessments during the appeal process, the Council made no request for further information under the EIA Regulations." (para.63)

"The Council, while raising concern over UFPs [Ultrafine particulates], is nonetheless content that permission could be granted subject to conditions requiring monitoring of air quality. The UU secures such monitoring, and condition 10 requires implementation of an air quality strategy, which is to be approved by the Council." (para.75)

"The ES concluded that there would be no significant effect at ecological receptors. The Council considers that the development would be acceptable in air quality terms subject to imposition of suitable conditions to limit the air quality effects and to secure mitigation measures." (para.80)

#### Climate Change

"There is broad agreement between the parties regarding the extremely serious risks associated with climate change. These risks are acknowledged and reflected in Government policy." (para.82)

"Nonetheless, in spite of that general accord there remains much disagreement between the main parties to the Inquiry over how the effects of the development on climate change should be assessed, quantified, monitored and managed, including into the future." (para.83)

"The reason for refusal relating to carbon emissions and climate change refers only to the proposed development's effects resulting from additional emissions of international flights. Nonetheless, the evidence put forward as part of the appeal process also refers to wider potential effects on climate change, including carbon emissions from sources other than international flights." (para.99)

"Discussion and testing of the evidence during the Inquiry process revealed no good reasons to conclude that any such effects would have any significant bearing on climate change. Indeed, the Statement of Common Ground on Carbon between the appellant and Council states that the emissions from all construction and ground operation effects (i.e. all sources of carbon other than flight emissions) are not significant. It adds that Stansted Airport has achieved Level 3+ (carbon neutrality) Airport Carbon Accreditation awarded by the Airport Council International." (para.100)

"Given the conclusions outlined above regarding the potential effects of the appeal development arising from international flights, the evidence does not suggest that the combined climate change effects of the development would be contrary to planning policy on such matters, including the Framework, or that it would significantly affect the Government's statutory responsibilities in this regard. Furthermore, no breach of the development plan associated with carbon/climate change is cited in the relevant reason for refusal and none has been established as part of the appeal process." (para.101)

#### Planning Balance

"The Council and the appellant agree that the proposed development accords with the development plan, taken as a whole. It is further agreed that the Framework's presumption in favour of sustainable development should apply as a result of the proposals' accordance with an up-to-date development plan. In these circumstances the Framework states that development should be approved without delay." (para.155)

#### Condition 15

"The Council proposes alternative conditions to deal with noise, air quality and carbon. Its primary case involves a condition, referred to during the Inquiry as 'condition 15', which would impose restrictions based upon the impacts assessed in the ES/ESA, along with future more stringent restrictions (using some interpolated data from the ES/ESA) and a process that would require the Council's reassessment and approval periodically as the airport grows under the planning permission, allowing for a reconsideration against new, as yet unknown, policy and guidance. In light of the Panel's conclusions on these matters, there is no policy basis for seeking to reassess noise, air quality or carbon emissions in light of any potential change of policy that might occur in the future. Furthermore, it would be likely to seriously undermine the certainty that a planning permission should provide that the development

could be fully implemented. This appeal must be determined now on the basis of current circumstances and the proposed 'condition 15' is not necessary or reasonable." (para.142)

8.22 This assessment informed the conclusion of the Inspectors that:

"Overall, the balance falls overwhelmingly in favour of the grant of planning permission. Whilst there would be a limited degree of harm arising in respect of air quality and carbon emissions, these matters are far outweighed by the benefits of the proposal and do not come close to indicating a decision other than in accordance with the development plan. No other material considerations have been identified that would materially alter this balance."

#### 9. **Costs Letter**

9.1 The assessment of UDC's case at appeal is presented in far more strident terms in the Inspectors assessment of the costs case. Importantly, the Inspectors assessment is closely aligned with the advice presented to the Extraordinary Planning Committee in January 2020 that:

"Whilst there is nothing wrong with a different committee exercising different planning judgement, such a drastic change in position by a public body should be fully and robustly justified."

- 9.2 The Inspectors then note that a different decision was reached in 2020, notwithstanding the negligible impacts that had been identified. It is also noted that at "no time was additional information sought from the appellant under Regulation 25 of the EIA Regulations that might have overcome any such concerns or provided an answer to other queries of the Council".
- 9.3 Turning to the case at Inquiry, the Inspectors conclude that:

"The reasons for refusal were unquestionably vague and generalised, suggesting that the appellant had failed to demonstrate the effects on aircraft noise and air quality despite the extensive evidence presented and accepted on these topics. The reasons for refusal left the actual and specific concerns of the Council opaque, even having regard to the committee minutes. Ultimately, the issues relied upon at appeal, some of which had been discussed during the committee, could not reasonably have been expected to materially alter the favourable planning balance. Indeed, the Council's own appeal evidence was that the planning balance was favourable, such that planning permission should be granted.

The reasons for refusal became vaguer still at reason 3 which sought to rely on a conflict with general accepted perceptions and understandings of the importance of climate change. Climate change and related policy matters had been considered at length by the Council in light of extensive submissions on the topic. Whilst the 2050 Target Amendment to the Climate Change Act 2008 occurred after the initial resolution to grant, no material change in relevant and applicable policy was identified by the Council, nor were the negligible impacts of the development altered. It was not credible or respectable for the Council to identify this as a matter that should now result in the refusal of permission.

The final reason for refusal related to a failure to provide necessary infrastructure and mitigation. However, it remains unclear what was needed that could not have been secured by condition; was not already provided for in the S106 agreement before the Council; or could not have been secured through negotiations on the submitted planning obligations. It was open to the Council to impose whatever conditions it saw fit applying the relevant tests.

Attempts to substantiate these reasons for refusal during the appeal were not convincing. Nor was the reliance on additional information provided in the ESA, which identified only

marginal changes in the assessment of effects from the ES. The Council nevertheless maintained its case and presented evidence relating to all four refusal reasons.

This was notwithstanding the Council's witnesses individually accepting that the issues raised could be overcome by conditions or obligations, and its planning witness having accepted in written evidence that the development was acceptable in planning terms overall. Again, it was concluded that the development would accord with the development plan and should be granted planning permission subject to conditions and obligations. Such an approach could and should have been taken at the time of the Council's decision and did not warrant the Council's continued opposition to the proposal at appeal. So far as conditions were pursued, much time was taken at the Inquiry dealing with 'condition 15', an unnecessarily onerous and misconceived condition that patently fails to meet the relevant tests. The strength of evidence in favour of the proposal is such that the application should clearly have been granted planning permission by the Council. Its reliance on a perceived direction of travel in policy or emerging policy that may never come into being in the form anticipated is not a sound basis for making planning decisions. As such, the appeal should not have been necessary."

This commentary is an important assessment of UDC's case and raises a series of issues that are considered in further detail in the following parts of this report.

#### 10. Decision of the Honourable Mrs Justice Lang DBE

The application for permission for a Statutory Review of the appeal decision was considered on the papers and failed on all grounds. We focus for the purposes of this report on 'Ground 1 and 2' and the High Court Judge's assessment dated 7<sup>th</sup> July 2021 that:

"...this submission to be unarguable. On a fair reading of the Decision Letter (DL), the Panel correctly identified and understood the relevant national and local policies. It was correct to find that carbon emissions policies are addressed at a national level, in the MBU, and are not a matter for local planning decision-makers. It was entitled to conclude that the national policy "Making best use of existing runways" ("MBU"), published in June 2018, was made in full knowledge of the UK's then commitments to combat climate change, and that it thoroughly tested the potential implications of the policy in climate change terms (DL 18). It was also entitled to conclude that the Government has not altered the policies in the MBU, notwithstanding changes to the targets for reduction of greenhouse gas emissions (DL 24-25).

Under the heading "Carbon and Climate Change", the Panel considered the specific climate change implications of the proposed development. It clearly considered the competing views of the parties and took into account Government announcements which post-dated the MBU. Its judgment was that carbon emissions weighed against the proposal only to a limited extent (DL 153). It is not open to the Claimant to challenge that exercise of planning judgment in a claim for statutory review.

... Its reasons for concluding that Condition 15 was not necessary or reasonable were clearly explained at DL 142. It applied the correct legal and policy tests. This was an exercise of planning judgment which the Claimant cannot challenge in this claim."

#### 11. Full Council

- 11.1 It was recommended in the subsequent report to Full Council on 5<sup>th</sup> October 2021 that the judgement of the Honourable Mrs Justice Lang should be accepted and any further action in the matter should focus on managing the implications of the full costs award in favour of SAL.
- 11.2 The report confirmed that UDC had incurred some £1,034,000 in presenting its case at the Planning Inquiry and that it was anticipated that SAL's costs would be in the region of

£1.5million. The report summarised the key elements of the application for the Statutory Review in the following terms:

"The Planning Inspectors had erred in excluding from consideration relevant climate change and carbon emissions policies, and reading national aviation policy (Aviation Policy Statement 2013, Making Best Use 2018 and the Aviation National Policy Statement 2018) as "unassailable and untouched" by other more recent government policy.

The Panel were wrong in rejecting Condition 15 proposed by the council as unnecessary and unreasonable, and failed to properly explain why it had been rejected. The council's planning evidence that the appeal should be granted was expressly founded upon Condition 15 being in place.

The Panel's costs decision was flawed on eleven grounds including a failure to attach weight to Planning Policy Guidance that applications for costs should be made as soon as possible, a failure to consider the council's submissions on the unfairness and prejudice to the council in the timing of Stansted Airport Ltd's costs claim at the close of the inquiry hearings, or alternatively, an explanation as to why the Panel rejected those submissions, the unjustified characterisation of the council's grounds for refusal as vague, generalised and opaque, without any reference to the council's third reason (additional carbon emissions against a background of amendments to the UK's carbon account)."

11.3 This summary assessment is surprisingly forthright and was clearly at odds with the findings of the three Inspectors and, most importantly, those of the High Court. The report, in turn, confirms the assessment detailed in the preceding section of this report that each of these claims were "inarguable" and noted in respect of the costs issue the Judge's assessment that:

"A decision whether or not to make an award of costs is pre-eminently a matter of discretion, and the Inspector who actually hears the appeal is in the best position to judge whether an award should be made. The Court will only interfere with an Inspector's exercise of discretion to award costs in exceptional circumstances."

11.4 The report then advises that:

"There is a high likelihood that a final judgement on permission to challenge will be consistent with that of the Inquiry Panel and Mrs Justice Lang. In the unlikely event that permission to challenge is granted, there are potential submissions that could be made in response to Her Ladyship's Page 7 reasons, but the outcome of a S288 Planning Statutory Review Full Hearing is similarly likely to be consistent with previous decisions."

11.5 It was, in these terms, that the Council resolved to accept the judgement of The Honourable Mrs Justice Lang DBE.

#### 12. **Procedural requirements**

12.1 ES have been supplied with a copy of EDC's current Constitution which provides the terms, limitations and requirements the local authority have placed upon itself to ensure that it operates and functions within its legal remit and in the interest of the residents and businesses within the District. It is noted that Article 13.2 of Part 2 of the Constitution identifies the principles that will be upheld in any Council decision will include:

"proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome);

due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers;

respect for human rights;

a presumption in favour of openness; and

clarity of aims and desired outcomes."

- It is further noted that Article 13.3 of Part 2 of the Constitution identifies those decisions reserved for Full Council and, by reference to Article 4.2.13, it is also clear that this might extend to such other functions that "the Council decides should be undertaken by itself". It is, in turn, noted that the normal mechanism for referral to Full Council is then by way of Motion under Rules 10 and 11 of Part 4 of the Constitution. The only other mechanism in elevation of a decision would by a Senior Officer calling an Extraordinary Meeting pursuant to Rule 3 of Part 4 of the Constitution. These latter provisions would require a request from:
  - 12.2.1 "the Council by resolution;
  - 12.2.2 the Chairman of the Council;
  - 12.2.3 the Monitoring Officer;
  - 12.2.4 the Chief Finance Officer; and
  - any five members of the Council if they have signed a requisition presented to the Chairman of the Council and he/she has refused to call a meeting or has failed to call a meeting within seven days of the presentation of the requisition."
- The provisions of Article 13.3.2 of Part 2 of the Constitution then define those "key decisions by or on behalf of the Leader or Cabinet". This second category of decision is identified at Article 13.3.2 by reference to "decisions likely to result in ...expenditure in excess of £100,000", but this is only then qualified by reference to land transactions. It is also the case that the further categories of "key decisions" makes no provision for those decisions made in conflict with Officers advice and where any such decision might present a high risk of significant expenditure, reputational damage or a substantial costs award against UDC.
- 12.4 Finally, it is the provisions of Part 3 of the Constitution that include the broad delegated authority to the Assistant Director Planning & Building Control which includes responsibility to:

"Carry out all functions related to appeals against planning and enforcement decisions made by Uttlesford District Council."

#### 13. **Assessment**

The Decision Making Process

- 13.1 The preceding part of this report provides a step by step review of the process in determination of the planning application for the Proposal, to its refusal and appeal process and the subsequent decision of Full Council not to pursue the dismissal of the s288 Statutory Review.
- 13.2 It is clear in review of the available material that Officers from their original assessment of the Proposal in November 2018 through to its refusal in January 2020 provided consistent, detailed and robust advice that the Proposal was compliant with policy, that there were no other relevant material considerations to displace that policy presumption and that the proposed expansion at the Airport should be approved. That advice was supported by very clear and exacting advice from Leading Counsel, in the following blunt terms:

"The most immediate practical consequence of UDC now refusing to grant permission... without a very good reason for changing its mind, is that STAL would likely appeal ...This

would give rise to a lengthy and expensive public inquiry, at which, irrespective of the outcome, UDC would have to meet its own costs. The material with which I have been provided suggests that STAL would be successful in that appeal. In that event, UDC would likely face an application made by STAL for its costs ...I cannot say with any precision what those costs would be, but what I can say is that they would be very significant indeed."

- That advice proved to be entirely accurate and it was clearly either not made available to Councillors or it was not understood, ignored or dismissed by Councillors, who then resolved to refuse planning permission for the Proposal at the Extraordinary Planning Committee meeting in January 2020. It is important to stress that the decision to refuse was reached and the RoR were identified:
  - absence any available and identifiable evidence to demonstrate that the additional flights would result in an increased detrimental effect from aircraft noise;
  - 13.3.2 without identifiable evidence to support the claimed detrimental impact on air quality resulting from the additional flights;
  - in reliance upon the inherently tenuous argument that current Government policy (contained in Aviation Policy Statement 2013, Making Best Use 2018 and the Aviation National Policy Statement 2018) was out of date and should be considered in the context of the amendment to the Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) to reduce the net UK carbon account for the year 2050 to net zero from the 1990 baseline; and
  - 13.3.4 without any specific evidence relating to the absence of necessary infrastructure to support the Proposal.
- 13.4 We note, in this context, that no request was made by Officers or Councillors for the provision of further information to address these concerns and as might be the normal good practice before refusing planning consent for a scheme due to the absence of available and identifiable evidence. Also, as is highlighted in the costs award, it is important to acknowledge that there was no specific Regulation 25 request made by UDC for the provision of further information to support or address any perceived gaps in the submitted Environmental Statement.
- On these terms, the unsubstantiated decision was clearly reached in the belief or assumption that evidence could be secured to support the proposition that the Proposal was contrary to national and local policy in accordance with the identified objections detailed in the RoR. At that time and on these terms, this was a decision that was consistent with a perceived breach of "a plan or strategy (whether statutory or non-statutory) ... adopted or approved by the Council".
- On this basis, this was a decision within the terms of the Article 3.3 of Part 3 of the Constitution. The Extraordinary Planning Committee were clearly entitled within the terms of the Constitution to reach that decision and, by reference to the Constitution, this did not automatically precipitate any further decision, audit or review by Officers or the Executive.
- 13.7 It is, however, surprising to ES that there is no apparent safeguarding measures at Article 13.3.2 of Part 2 of the Constitution in respect of any "key decisions" that conflict with Officers advice and where the determination would present a high risk of significant expenditure, costs liability or reputational damage to UDC. This is a matter that is returned to in our recommendations below at section 14.
- 13.8 In the absence of any available evidence to support the identified RoR, it is also reasonable to conclude that UDC's decision in refusal of the Proposal was politically motivated and was, to some degree, informed by the then unsubstantiated representations made by the local

- resident groups. This include the forceful submissions made by SSE that were supported by detailed arguments presented by Paul Stinchcombe QC.
- 13.9 It is, at this point, important to note that members of a Planning Committee are entitled to reach decisions in conflict with Officer advice. There are also a reasonable proportion of such planning cases that are subsequently substantiated in evidence by a team appointed advisors (either internal or external) and that fail to secure planning permission at appeal. These cases are not commonplace, but they are also not exceptional.
- 13.10 It might, in normal circumstances, be reasonable for Councillors to assume that an appointed team of experts might be able to formulate an arguable case in objection to the Proposal. The obvious abnormality of this case, is that Councillors had already appointed Phillip Coppel QC who is a very experienced and senior legal advisor and they had the benefit of his clear advice that the case was without substance. Therefore, the Extraordinary Planning Committee made their decision in refusal of the Proposal in direct conflict with the expert advice and at obvious risk.
- 13.11 In our view, this ensures that the decision of the Extraordinary Planning Committee in January 2020 relied not, upon evidence known at the time, but entirely upon the anticipated identification and availability of any evidence to support the RoR. Absent that evidence, Councillors and Officers had been clearly advised that the UDC case had no prospect whatsoever of being sustained at appeal and that UDC would likely be exposed to a substantial costs award.
- 13.12 It is, in this context, very surprising that there was no formal process put in place to provide for the further review and assessment of the anticipated appeal case. If such review(s) were to have taken place, it would have provided the opportunity to consider whether it was still appropriate to maintain all of the RoR or whether particular issues could be withdrawn on the basis of the available evidence, thereby limiting risk and costs exposure.

#### The Preparation of Evidence

- 13.13 There is nothing to suggest that the Officers failed in their duties in the appointment of the professional team formulation, who were all experienced and reputable consultants. It is also the case, that the Officers and their appointed advisors cannot be criticised for failing to find any substantive evidence to support the RoR. That conclusion is supported by the detailed assessment of the Proposal at the earlier Committee, the very detailed advice obtained from a selection of legal advisors and, most notably, the inability of the professional team representing SSE to present any convincing case at the Inquiry.
- 13.14 The apparent limitations of the RoR were reflected in the subsequent output of the appointed professional team. Whilst the instruction of the professional team and the production of evidence is always iterative, the limitations of the case were identified at the outset in the content of the Statement of Case. This can be seen in the submissions at paragraph 5.4:
  - "UDC will call expert witnesses to demonstrate that there are assessments that should be undertaken in relation to air noise, air quality and carbon emissions and the associated consequences for health and wellbeing of local communities. These may require additional mitigation and alternative controls. If necessary measures are not feasible or enforceable, the appeal should be dismissed."
- 13.15 In short the Statement of Case makes clear that evidence will be presented by UDC to demonstrate the alleged limitations of the assessed Proposal and, in turn, in identification of proposed mitigation and control mechanisms that will allow the appeal scheme to be approved.

13.16 It is also clear that this approach continued through to the close of the Inquiry. This is signposted in the Opening Statement for UDC in confirmation that "none of those four reasons expressed an in-principle objection to any form of any development of Stansted."

The Noise Case

13.17 The UDC case then unfolds in the effective withdrawal of the RoR relating to the alleged noise impacts, on the basis that the ES Addendum "alleviate many of the valid concerns which lay behind the Reason for Refusal". This is set out in the (unchallenged) assessment of the Council's case at paragraph 42 of the appeal Decision Letter:

"The Council's position is that the development is acceptable in terms of aircraft noise, subject to suitable mitigation measures."

The Air Quality Case

13.18 A similar approach is then taken with the air quality case, on the basis that "the air quality impacts [are] capable of being mitigated through an appropriate condition or mitigation package". Again, this is set out in the (unchallenged) assessment of the Council's case at paragraph 80 of the appeal Decision Letter:

"The Council considers that the development would be acceptable in air quality terms subject to imposition of suitable conditions to limit the air quality effects and to secure mitigation measures."

The Carbon Emissions Case

- 13.19 The UDC case relating to carbon emissions made no specific complaint as to unacceptability or policy breach, but remained concerned as to the "considerable uncertainties over the quantum of emissions and their significance". This then informed the proposed imposition of Condition 15 in an attempt to secure "the environmental benefits which the developer says it can achieve over the period they have assessed."
- 13.20 As before, this is set out in the (unchallenged) assessment of the Council's case at paragraph 101 of the appeal Decision Letter:

"Given the conclusions outlined above regarding the potential effects of the appeal development arising from international flights, the evidence does not suggest that the combined climate change effects of the development would be contrary to planning policy on such matters, including the Framework, or that it would significantly affect the Government's statutory responsibilities in this regard. Furthermore, no breach of the development plan associated with carbon/climate change is cited in the relevant reason for refusal and none has been established as part of the appeal process." (para.101)

The Planning Balance Case

13.21 In this context, it is also important to note that the overall planning case presented by UDC confirmed that the Proposal was compliant with the development plan policy. This is confirmed at paragraph 155 of the appeal Decision Letter in the (again unchallenged) assessment of the UDC's case in respect of the overall planning balance:

"The Council and the appellant agree that the proposed development accords with the development plan, taken as a whole. It is further agreed that the Framework's presumption in favour of sustainable development should apply as a result of the proposals' accordance with an up-to-date development plan. In these circumstances the Framework states that development should be approved without delay."

- This was, on any reasonable assessment, a case presented in conditional support for the Proposal and that did not seek to argue any inherent conflict with national or local policy. Importantly, this approach is reflected in the commentary note provided by Leading Counsel on the eve of the Inquiry and his assessment that:
  - "It is the decision recorded in that Decision Notice that is being appealed. Compliance with UDC's condition 15, together with the other conditions + s 106 agreement, would, according to the professionally qualified experts UDC has engaged, meet the reasons for refusal as recorded in the Decision Notice dated 29/1/20 and be consistent with governing planning policies, both national and local."
- Whilst we acknowledge that this assessment was produced in haste, it does present some challenges when read against the RoR. In the first instance we recognise that some elements of the RoR as "recorded in the Decision Notice" would provide the opportunity for the provision of additional information "to demonstrate that the additional flights would not result in an increased detrimental effect from aircraft noise" and "to demonstrate that the additional flights would not result in a detrimental effect on air quality". The third reason for refusal, however, is presented as a form of prematurity case and in terms that suggest "it would be inappropriate to approve the application at a time whereby the Government has been unable to resolve its policy on international aviation climate emissions".
- 13.24 It is, on balance, possible to see the genesis of Condition 15 in the terms of this reason for refusal and also in the final reason relating to the alleged absence of "necessary mitigation to address the detrimental impact of the proposal contrary to Uttlesford Local Plan Policies GEN6, GEN1, GEN7, ENV1, ENV11 and ENV13".
- 13.25 There is, in our view, an inevitable subtly to the proposition presented in Leading Counsel note of 6th January 2021 that required a detailed understanding of the terms of the RoR and the wider approach taken in evidence as part of complex planning appeal cases. As a consequence, it is unreasonable to assume that the approach being taken by the professional team on behalf of UDC would have been abundantly clear to Councillors and they might have been quite reasonably concerned that their perception of "a unanimous Planning Committee decision to "refuse on the basis that the application to expand Stansted was unsustainable"" wasn't then reflected in a case presented in conditional support for the Proposal.

#### Engagement with Councillors

- 13.26 This was then a matter of communication, which we understand was addressed by Officers through the provision of a series of 'members briefings' and other further internal meetings between Officers and Councillors. These were informal discussions without a published agenda and without formal minutes.
- 13.27 Whilst this is to be expected to some degree in the management of a complex decision making process, it is clear that all of these discussions were conducted through these informal lines of communication and without any Committee oversight. The obvious risk being that both Officers and Councillors believed that their concerns had been understood, there was common understanding as to the next steps and all concerned had then accepted the prevailing approach to the appeal case.
- 13.28 It is impossible for us to determine if the available handwritten notes of some of these meetings provide a reliable record and we have placed no reliance upon this material for this reason. In many respects, this is unimportant because these meeting are not contemplated in the Constitution and provided no formal structure in explanation and redefinition of the appeal case.
- 13.29 It was, in our view, the reliance upon these informal meetings that introduced a clear point of weakness and vulnerability to the decision making process by UDC and that then precipitated the 16 questions raised by Councillors in early January 2021. This was an

entirely avoidable point of complaint by Councillors, that would have been resolved if there had been a clear structured process of referral back to Committee in update of the emerging appeal case. It might be argued that this action wasn't taken to avoid the potential leakage of evidence to SSE, but this isn't supported by the provision of the 'members briefings' that would inevitably have been prone to the same weakness.

- 13.30 The emerging limitation of the UDC appeal case is reinforced by Leading Counsel's own assessment in the commentary note of 6<sup>th</sup> January 2021, which ensured that UDC's professional team presented no evidence in support of the case in objection to the first, second and fourth reasons for refusal. They then focused the case upon the provisions of 'Condition 15' as a means of regulating the development within the scope of the third (and to some degree the fourth) RoR and, in turn, as a basis for conditional support of the Proposal.
- 13.31 The first judgement made by the professional team had inevitable consequences in exposing UDC to an obvious and certain costs award, which could only be mitigated by the withdrawal of the relevant reasons for refusal. That didn't happen and, as a matter of process, it could have only been realised with Committee approval. In our view, this is where Leading Counsel's assessment of the capacity of the RoR to provide the ability to redefine the case finds its greatest point of weakness, absent referral back to the Councillors to secure Committee endorsement.
- As above, the provision of a more formal process of review by Committee as the case for the appeal was formulated and evolved would have provided the clear opportunity to address this issue. The conclusion of the professional team that there was no case to answer on air quality and noise impacts could have been spelt out to Councillors, together with the very clear attendant risk of costs in continuing with these unsubstantiated complaints. It would appear that such advice, in all likelihood, would have not been followed by the Committee, but Officers would then have been absolved of any responsibility and any need to find any further blame would have been clear. The certain consequence of not taking this action are made clear in the assessment of the three Inspectors in the costs award:

"Attempts to substantiate these reasons for refusal during the appeal were not convincing. Nor was the reliance on additional information provided in the ESA, which identified only marginal changes in the assessment of effects from the ES. The Council nevertheless maintained its case and presented evidence relating to all four refusal reasons.

This was notwithstanding the Council's witnesses individually accepting that the issues raised could be overcome by conditions or obligations, and its planning witness having accepted in written evidence that the development was acceptable in planning terms overall. Again, it was concluded that the development would accord with the development plan and should be granted planning permission subject to conditions and obligations. Such an approach could and should have been taken at the time of the Council's decision and did not warrant the Council's continued opposition to the proposal at appeal. Ultimately, the issues relied upon at appeal, some of which had been discussed during the committee, could not reasonably have been expected to materially alter the favourable planning balance. Indeed, the Council's own appeal evidence was that the planning balance was favourable, such that planning permission should be granted."

- 13.33 The second judgement made by the professional team relied heavily on the ability to convince the Inspectors that Condition 15 was reasonable, appropriate and satisfied the tests in Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 (as amended). Whilst the provision of the suggested condition obviously required some refinement of the case presented by the fourth RoR, the greater risk it presented was the highly significant prospect that it wouldn't be acceptable to the appeal Inspectors as it would not satisfy the necessary legal tests.
- 13.34 In our view, those risks should have been abundantly clear to the professional team, and in particular the legal team, because the form of Condition 15 on any reasonable examination

was convoluted, unduly restrictive and would unnecessarily and unreasonably affect SAL's ability to bring the development forward. We would, on these terms, unreservedly agree with the assessment provided in the SAL full response to Condition 15 in their submissions of  $24^{th}$  February 2021:

"The fact that condition 15 seeks to regulate the environmental effects of development plainly cannot be justification for the imposition of a completely novel type of planning condition, which seeks to revisit the principle of the development following the grant of permission. It is commonplace for conditions to be imposed for the purpose of regulating environmental impacts, including in respect of major development projects. The fact that condition 15 is not "necessary" to regulate the environmental impacts of the scheme is underlined by the fact that UDC has been unable to identify any precedent for the imposition of a 'phased release' condition of the kind proposed here. Moreover, and fundamentally, there is no evidence that this development will give rise to any significant environmental effects, so as to justify the imposition of this condition in the first place. The condition is clearly neither "necessary" nor "directly related" (i.e. proportionate) to the negligible environmental impacts that have been assessed as arising from this development."

13.35 The limitations of the approach taken by the professional team are made clear in the assessment of the three Inspectors at paragraph 142 of their Decision Letter:

"The Council proposes alternative conditions to deal with noise, air quality and carbon. Its primary case involves a condition, referred to during the Inquiry as 'condition 15', which would impose restrictions based upon the impacts assessed in the ES/ESA, along with future more stringent restrictions (using some interpolated data from the ES/ESA) and a process that would require the Council's reassessment and approval periodically as the airport grows under the planning permission, allowing for a reconsideration against new, as yet unknown, policy and guidance. In light of the Panel's conclusions on these matters, there is no policy basis for seeking to reassess noise, air quality or carbon emissions in light of any potential change of policy that might occur in the future. Furthermore, it would be likely to seriously undermine the certainty that a planning permission should provide that the development could be fully implemented. This appeal must be determined now on the basis of current circumstances and the proposed 'condition 15' is not necessary or reasonable."

13.36 This assessment is further expanded upon by the Inspectors in the cost decision in the following terms:

"The reasons for refusal became vaguer still at reason 3 which sought to rely on a conflict with general accepted perceptions and understandings of the importance of climate change. Climate change and related policy matters had been considered at length by the Council in light of extensive submissions on the topic. Whilst the 2050 Target Amendment to the Climate Change Act 2008 occurred after the initial resolution to grant, no material change in relevant and applicable policy was identified by the Council, nor were the negligible impacts of the development altered. It was not credible or respectable for the Council to identify this as a matter that should now result in the refusal of permission...

So far as conditions were pursued, much time was taken at the Inquiry dealing with 'condition 15', an unnecessarily onerous and misconceived condition that patently fails to meet the relevant tests. The strength of evidence in favour of the proposal is such that the application should clearly have been granted planning permission by the Council. Its reliance on a perceived direction of travel in policy or emerging policy that may never come into being in the form anticipated is not a sound basis for making planning decisions. As such, the appeal should not have been necessary."

13.37 Importantly, this assessment was also endorsed by the Honourable Mrs Justice Lang DBE on 7<sup>th</sup> July 2021 in her review of the application for the Statutory Review. In her judgement:

"Its reasons for concluding that Condition 15 was not necessary or reasonable were clearly explained at DL 142. It applied the correct legal and policy tests. This was an exercise of planning judgment which the Claimant cannot challenge in this claim."

- 13.38 As above, the provision of a formal process of review by Committee would have provided the opportunity to address this further issue. Once more, the conclusion of the professional team that the proposed Condition 15 was the correct response to the last two RoR could have been debated and the condition might have been abandoned, revised or accepted. In any event, all of the attendant cost risks could have been identified and the responsibility for proceeding with that risk would clearly then have then rested with the Councillors. Absent this process of review, it wasn't reasonable for the professional team to assume that this cost risk had been implicitly accepted by Councillors in reliance upon their interpretation of the RoR and in their unsupported promotion of Condition 15.
- 13.39 In our view, the risks of a full award of costs against UDC in the promotion of the appeal case would have been very clear and apparent to the professional team. The fact that this had already been flagged by Leading Counsel's in his very clear assessment of the case and the costs risk at the time of the Extraordinary Committee Meeting in January 2020, made certain that the identified risk could only increase (in prospect and cost) with each step taken to justify the RoR on the terms identified in evidence.

#### Constitutional Safeguards

- 13.40 Reading between the lines, the view was formed by Officers (and possibly, in the turn, by the professional team) that Councillors had made a bad decision against very clear advice; that decision wouldn't change in the face of any expert assessment or advice; seeking further instructions would be painful and pointless; the best had to be made of a bad lot; and, ultimately, the Councillors only had themselves to blame if a full costs award followed. All this, may of course be entirely accurate, but the primary duty of any Officer is to protect the interests and reputation of the Council and in this case the available safeguards weren't followed.
- Whilst limited, those safeguards are available in the Constitution and are provided by reference to the function of the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer in requiring the provision of an Extraordinary Meeting pursuant to Rule 3 of Part 4 of the Constitution.
- Turning back to the January 2020 determination, that decision was made by Councillors at the Extraordinary Committee Meeting in the belief that the refusal of planning permission for the Proposal would be "contrary to Uttlesford Local Plan Policy ENV11, ...ENV13 and GEN6, GEN1, GEN7, ENV1, ENV11 and ENV13."
- 13.43 That clear position entered a process of transition from a claimed conflict with adopted policy to one of potential compliance, at the submission of UDC's Statement of Case. This then moved to a place of substantial compliance at the submission of the UDC evidence to the Inquiry on the terms detailed above. This required the exercise of planning judgement and, as such, the transition from the terms of the RoR to the presented appeal case could have only have been sanctioned in reliance upon the broad delegated powers made available to the Assistant Director Planning & Building Control. Whilst, the same delegated authority is made available to the Chief Executive Officer and the Director of Public Services it is, in our view, only fair to suggest that the final planning judgement could only be made by those with the direct conduct of this complex case. That being, the Assistant Director Planning & Building Control and, possibly, by the relevant legal advisor within UDC. Whilst nuanced and conditional, this transition in the UDC case was made abundantly clear in Leading Counsel's commentary note of 6th January 2021.
- 13.44 In our view, this must have been very clear to the supervising Officer(s) who had the conduct of the appeal case and in their participation in the settlement of the evidence that was ultimately submitted to the Inquiry in December 2020. At the very latest point, the

issued raised in the Councillors complaint and the response from Leading Counsel should have required Officers to revisit the RoR as referenced in the '16 questions'. At the very lowest level, this should have raised a concern with Officers that the earlier determination in January 2020 was, by this point, potentially defective.

13.45 The Officer(s) with delegated authority who were involved at that time should have been aware of this potential flaw in the decision making process and, in remedy, a request should have been made (most probably by the Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer) for an Extraordinary Meeting pursuant to Rule 3 of Part 4 of the Constitution. Even if this interpretation of the provisions of the Constitution is overstated, common sense would suggest that the profile of the case and the potential reputational and cost consequences of the approach taken by the professional team were sufficient to have required an informed and effective Monitoring Officer/Chief Finance Officer to take this step.

#### 14. Lessons Learned

- 14.1 It was on any reasonable examination predictable that any appeal against the RoR by SAL would present a very difficult case for UDC to defend. Indeed, this outcome had been predicted in the clearest possible terms by Leading Counsel. There was, as a consequence, a very high prospect that the appointment of the professional team would come at a substantial cost, that the outcome of the proceedings presented a very high likelihood of a substantial costs award against UDC and that there was the potential for further reputational damage to the local authority.
- 14.2 These were obvious, apparent and pronounced risks to UDC that should have been reflected in an automatic procedure of monitoring and review. It was a clear error of judgement by both Councillors and Officers that this facility was not put in place at the Extraordinary Committee Meeting in January 2020.
- 14.3 This absence of oversight was then compounded by the approach taken by the professional team under the supervision of the relevant Officers who had delegated authority and the conduct of the appeal case. Those Officers supervised and endorsed the transition of the appeal case from the terms of the RoR to the presented case of conditional approval of the Proposal. Whilst there was some limited scope for this interpretation and approach within the terms of the RoR, the obvious and inevitable exposure to costs should have forced those Officers to refer the case to the Monitoring Officer/Chief Finance Officer with a request that an Extraordinary Meeting should be secured pursuant to Rule 3 of Part 4 of the Constitution. In turn, it must also the case, that if either the Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer were already fully aware of the emerging case they should have taken this action under their own initiative.
- 14.4 It should, however, be stressed that this is an extreme case by reference to: the decision making process leading to the appeal; the profile and exposure of the proceedings; and the consequential financial and reputational cost to UDC. This should then temper the response of UDC to the issues raised by this specific decision making process and, in broader application, any new procedural steps that are put in place should be realistic and proportionate.
- As detailed above, the current terms of the Constitution rely upon individual Officers to raise a request for an Extraordinary Meeting based entirely upon their judgement and intervention. The need for that judgement to be made will almost always arise in an period of intense work and, as in this case, where political pressure is heightened. It is, in this context, unreasonable and unrealistic to assume that Officers would regularly reflect on the terms of the Constitution (in the way detailed above) and then conduct an audit of their decisions to maintain confidence of continuing compliance.
- 14.6 In this context, the obvious remedy would be to extend the provisions of Article 13.3.2 of Part 2 of the Constitution that define those "key decisions by or on behalf of the Leader or

Cabinet" to provide an automatic referral process in specific circumstances. We would recommend that this is achieved by the extension of the categories of decisions identified at Article 13.3.2 to include:

"The decision relates to a planning proposal likely to potentially result in a cost award against the Council in excess of  $\pounds[X]00,000$  or the provision of external professional services in excess of  $\pounds[X]00,000$ "

- 14.7 These terms could be extended to address those planning decisions made against Officer advice or in conflict with adopted policy, but in our view this is too broad a category of decision and would act against the interests of good management of UDC's business by overburdening the decision making processes identified in the Constitution. We also take a similar view in respect of those decisions on planning matters that might cause reputational harm, because this is too subjective and would be open to misinterpretation.
- 14.8 The proposed approach would ensure that any planning decision presenting this cost risk that is made by the Planning Committee or is managed and determined through delegated authority should be automatically elevated to the Leader or Cabinet as a "key decision" requiring oversight and approval. The Leader or Cabinet, in turn, would then have authority to direct those identified under Rule 3 of the Constitution to call an Extraordinary Meeting.
- 14.9 These arrangements should not take away from the continuing functions in monitoring and assessment of planning decisions by the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer that are currently envisaged by the Constitution. There is, however, scope to better formalise these arrangements by the extension of the provisions of Part 3 of the Constitution relating to the function and duties of these appointed Officers.
- 14.10 These revised terms could require the Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer to audit and review decisions that relate to any planning proposal likely to result in a potential cost award against UDC that fall below the thresholds detailed in the proposed amendment to Article 13.3.2 detailed above and, in particular, where there is an anticipated risk of escalation beyond the identified cost thresholds.
- 14.11 This approach would create a formal context for the audit of planning decisions as detailed above and, in turn, might assist in managing the potential administrative burden associated with the proposed amendments to Article 13.3.2 of Part 2 of the Constitution. It is also an approach that would assist in providing an established process for review by the Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer that should then protect and give justification for any necessary intervention.
- 14.12 The provision of training and support to those Officers holding delegated authority should also be considered in response to an increasingly complex planning process and which requires very specific expertise in response to rapidly changing policy and legislative. That same training and guidance should obviously be extended to Councillors who often have to make challenging decisions in response to a myriad of documentation and a range of complex and inter-playing material considerations.

#### 15. **Summary and Conclusions**

15.1 The advice of Officers in assessment of the Proposal from their original assessment in November 2018 through to the determination of the appeal was based upon consistent, detailed and robust advice. The decision of the Extraordinary Committee Meeting in January 2020 was reached without the benefit of any substantiated evidence in respect of a Proposal that was substantially compliant with national and local policy. Whilst Councillors were clearly entitled to reach that decision, it inevitably exposed UDC to a clear financial risk both in terms of their own costs in defence of their case and because of the high prospect of a costs award against the local authority.

- In turn, the Officers approach in formulation of the UDC appeal case was always reliant upon the weakest of foundations and this was then reflected in the difficulties faced by Officers and the appointed consultative team in the preparation of their evidence. The attendant risk of a full award of costs against UDC would have been very clear and apparent by the professional team throughout this process and as identified in the clearest possible terms in Leading Counsel assessment of the case at the time of the Extraordinary Committee Meeting in January 2020. It is, however, clear that very modest steps were taken to mitigate that risk and this was particular the case with regard to missed opportunity to withdraw some of the RoR in response to the clearly limited available evidence in support of the Council's case.
- 15.3 In our view, this was the product of a system failure rather than the mistake of an individual Councillor and Officer, that centred upon the absence of sufficient oversight in the provision of an automatic procedure of monitoring, review and reassessment. Again, this mechanism should have been put in place by both Councillors and Officers at the Extraordinary Committee Meeting in January 2020 in response to the obvious reputational and cost risks. The absence of these arrangements placed Officers in an invidious position because they had been tasked in the formulation of an apparently hopeless case that was very clearly politically charged and in the absence of any apparent 'safety net' or other form of safeguard.
- The absence of oversight was then compounded by the approach taken by the professional team under the supervision of the relevant Officers who had delegated authority and the conduct of the appeal case. Those Officers supervised and endorsed the transition of the appeal case from the terms of the RoR to the presented case at Inquiry of conditional approval of the Proposal. It must , in turn, have been the case that the identified risk could only increase (in prospect and cost) with each step taken to justify the RoR on the terms identified in evidence.
- 15.5 The remedy should be to provide an automatic referral process in specific circumstances where there is a significant cost or reputation risk to UDC and to imbed these terms in the Constitution. Those arrangements would safeguard both Councillors and Officers and, ultimately, would operate in the best interests of the local authority and members of the public.

**Eversheds Sutherland (International) LLP** 

5<sup>th</sup> May 2022

# Stansted Application Task and Finish group report. Notes in dissent of the Task & Finish report on the MAG process.

### 1 Introduction:

- 1.1 In order to fully understand the subject of this report and thereby determine to what extent its fulfils is brief, it is instructive to trace its origins back to its inception at Scrutiny in December 2018. One might then qualify to what extent the final the report measures up to those initial expectations.
- 1.2 The main purpose of scrutiny must be to analyse the procedures followed and where possible identify failings that might be avoided in the future.
- 1.3 Another important purpose of scrutiny is to explain to residents what happened and how we arrived where we did. It is an historical record of process and outcome.
- 1.4 Residents will have to foot the final bill and are therefore entitled to transparent and robust assessment.
- 1.5 A further purpose might be to expose individual fault, if any is found, so as to address the Nolan Principles of good governance. However, it could be argued that to focus exclusively on blame would raise personal and political resistance impeding the productive and restorative value of the exercise. This does not mean that all fault finding should be avoided.
- 1.6 The request to the Scrutiny Committee for a full investigation of this matter was initially made after the Planning Committee's (Plancomm) first decision in 2018 to approve MAG's application which was seen to be highly controversial and raised several questions of form and best practice.
- 1.7 The request was made to the previous administration's Scrutiny Committee in late 2018, then chaired by Cllr Dean. However, at that time it was decided that owing to the ongoing nature of the application, this investigation should be postponed avoiding conflict and commercial prejudice.
- 1.8 It is laudable that this commitment to transparent and robust self-assessment was sustained over the protracted life of this matter.
- 1.9 Once MAG's Appeal had been upheld and the subsequent application to the High Court had been dismissed, the process was restarted and a T & F working group was formed.
- 1.10 The result was the current report produced by an objective, external qualified Solicitor.

- 1.11 However, from the outset there were questions about the scope and remit of the brief to the examiner.
- 1.12 It was decided that the scope should be limited to formal written evidence and would exclude at least two major sources of evidence for reasons of clarity, cost, and expediency.
- 1.13 The first major exclusion of evidence was that of valuable oral evidence by councillors, and specifically by members of either of the planning committees.
- 1.14 The second major exclusion of evidence was that of evidence of the content of the several "member workshops" that preceded the January 2020 Plancomm, and of the member "briefings" following the lodging of MAG's Appeal and prior to the Appeal process.
  - It is submitted that these meetings which were deemed valuable to the framing of members' views prior to determination and in preparation of the appeal were therefore valuable in understanding their frame of mind at those meetings. To exclude them would necessarily result in a diminished understanding of both outcomes.
- 1.15 At the T&F group these issues were raised and debated without effect. Again, the decision to narrow the scope was led by the officers and External advisor.
- 1.16 It is therefore small wonder that the report is perceived as somewhat limited and possibly even falls short of a full, robust assessment of a matter that warrants the fullest attention and transparency.

# 2 The report:

- 2.1 There are several questions that demand consideration by the Scrutiny Committee, and we would suggest the following as a start.
- 2.2 From the outset, in Art 2, it states that the assessor "ES" is asked to "identify any procedural error in the process and procedure followed in determination of the planning application, the conduct of the appeal proceedings and the subsequent High Court challenge as relates to the Proposal (as defined below)".
- 2.3 This statement gives the clear impression that this was a full and comprehensive brief of the entire matter. As we have suggested, the scope and remit were purposely restricted, and this is not a full picture of all the salient issues.
- 2.4 It should be noted that this report represents an historic document that may be referred to in future as a complete history of the matter.
- 2.5 The life of STAL's application, the subject of this investigation, has been prolonged and controversial and has profoundly affected the district, the council, and its many residents. The costs have been substantial, and one might argue that for that reason alone, it warrants a full and unlimited assessment. If it was confidently felt that all salient issues had been adequately addressed even given its limited scope, and that it represented a largely honest

- and accurate understanding of the major issues, then the compromise might be justified.
- 2.6 However, this report assumes certain "facts" such as (in 3.2 and 5.6) that the 2018 Plancomm decision was complete and without question, (glossing over the casting vote loss of a motion to refuse and another casting vote in favour of approving) and ignores the several questions that remained unanswered in that forum. The report then effectively assumes that this unquestionable baseline is the point from which failures may be measured.
- 2.7 The report also assumes that all three legal opinions were independent opinions on the facts, rather than a single opinion endorsed by two subsequent QCs. This point is not clarified, nor is any reference made to the three briefs given to the QCs that would clarify this.
- 2.8 The report also assumes that STAL's Appeal would ultimately have been upheld if the council had defended it. This is at best a qualified leap of faith. Until a matter has been fully tested in tribunal, the outcome must always be uncertain. In fact, SSE did try to argue for Plancom decision but was confronted by two larger parties arguing for approval.
- 2.9 There is no doubt that the council's defence was to reinterpret the decision notice from refusal to approval with conditions and instead of defending the Plancom's decision, was to contrive a compromise position in terms of Condition 15. This fact is well argued in the report. But to assume that the case was already lost is a flaw in reasoning that has implications for the members of Plancomm and indeed for its defence team.
- 2.10 The report concludes, based on this "evidence", that the members arrived at the unanimous decision to refuse on political grounds rather than on the evidence. (S13).
- 2.11 It is impossible to determine what is actually in the subjective minds of all members of the committee without even interviewing them! This conclusion is therefore based on the writer's own personal judgement of the facts as he was given them, rather than on any real evidence.
- 2.12 The evidence available to the writer was limited to written text (and apparently handwritten notes) and ignores the possibility that oral evidence might show something entirely different.

### 3 Briefings and workshops:

3.1 Consideration of briefings should have been included in this report. For example, whereas members were advised by a senior officer that the only intervening material consideration was climate change and that the S106 allocation might reasonably be substantially increased, this advice was given during briefings and served to guide members in their assessments. These comments were not considered by the writer and therefore form no part of his assessment of the merits of the case.

### 4 Members questions:

4.1 Other perhaps less crucial issues are erroneously alluded to such as the answers to 16 questions posed by a large cohort of members prior to the Appeal. This issue is glossed over and implies that answers were in fact given when they were not. S7.11 and This was the subject of an ECM and should therefore have formed part of the review. Had these questions been robustly debated and possibly been influential in the defence, the outcome of the Appeal might have differed. What it might also have shown is the commitment and enthusiasm members had for understanding the process and doing the right thing for the council. Regardless of its impact, this is one example where this report fails the members and muddies the water around this affair.

### 5 Written evidence:

- 5.1 The recommendations flow logically and constructively from the evidence considered but it would seem remiss to gloss over the failure to take adequate and judicious minutes in an application of this scale and not ensure the functioning of the audio-visual recording.
- 5.2 After all there was never any doubt that regardless of their reasoning, the applicant was always going to appeal a refusal. This fact is supported in the fact that the costs of a possible appeal was budgeted for a year earlier. But this this failure to adequately record important details goes to every element of the case.
- 5.3 Prior to the first Plancom meeting several meetings were allegedly held between officers, the applicant, and possibly other members.
- 5.4 The lack of records of these meetings was pointed out as far back as 2018. Yet this report makes no recommendations about those clear lapses of best practice.
- 5.5 The very vulnerability of this report lies in the lack of written evidence of all these dealings. Whilst we recognise the importance of cost cutting, this should not be done at the expense of facts and the conclusions drawn from such facts.

## 6 Endorsement by members of the T&F Group:

- 6.1 Whilst we would agree that the apportionment of blame is less important than transparent enquiry and setting solutions for the future, this report pretends to be a fair and even-handed assessment and will be taken as an objective assessment by members of the T&F group under the chairmanship of Cllr Le Count.
- 6.2 We would argue that it is a bold and perhaps valiant attempt at some understanding but that it does not go far enough to assess all the failures of the system truly and faithfully. Nor does it show a hard-working Plancomm or its members in a fair and objective light.

6.3 If we choose not to apportion blame, then why does this report feel so much like it does? And if we choose to understand the members' motives and frame of mind, wouldn't it be fairer to interview them and consider all the inputs that informed their decision?

### 7 Summary:

- 7.1 In summary, a common thread of failure that runs through this entire matter is the failure to make adequate record of meetings and discussions of the issues. This dates back to before the submission of the application and the meetings between officers, the applicant and even members. These meetings were cause for real controversy then and remain opaque.
- 7.2 The controversies of the decision to hear this application at the LPA rather than by the SoS and the first sitting of the Plancom were lost to history for lack of written record and the external examiner appears to begin his investigation from the start of the new administration. Yet even there there's is no comprehensive understanding of the various workshop that were deemed essential to informing members. Again, no record was kept of those meetings. The examiner has no record and proceeds to conclusion without reference to the advice given to members 2 months prior to the second plancom meeting.
- 7.3 His conclusion is therefore unaffected by essential guidelines given to members and is arrived at in a vacuum.
- 7.4 His conclusions about the preparation for the appeal are similarly based not on comprehensive minutes from the meeting (and no mention is made of this major oversight) and his grasp of members concern for the appeal is equally blind to the several serious briefings that members attended with the snr defence team. Again, no records were made. This does not mean they were not evidenced but simply that he had no access to that evidence.
- 7.5 The subsequent ECM and 16 questions are not adequately discussed, and the implication of full answers not debated.
- 7.6 This sustained lack of written record is a serious breach of good governance and renders the report inadequate, inaccurate, and unfair.

Cllr Paul Fairhurst Cllr Ayub Khan

4th July 2022

**Title:** Stansted Review – lessons learned action plan

**Report** Peter Holt, Chief Executive

Author: Dean Hermitage, Director of Planning

Adrian Webb, S151 Officer pholt@uttlesford.gov.uk

01799 510400

# **Summary**

1. This report proposes the action plan to be implemented to apply the lessons drawn from the independent expert review into the handling of the Stansted Airport expansion, 2017-2021, the report of which it is presented alongside.

- 2. It is important to note that this report is essentially about good governance, rather than solely about the handling of planning applications and appeals, as the lessons learned apply much more widely than only to that particular area of the council's statutory duties.
- 3. It is similarly important to note that this particular Council report looks forwards not backwards. In making proposals for the future, it rightly draws the important lessons from the past from the independent expert report which looked in considerable depth and detail at the history of its particular subject matter.
- 4. Running a council, with its broad range of statutory duties and discretionary services is a shared endeavour between elected Council Members and permanent, professional Council Officers, each playing their appropriate roles, and acting at varying times independently and at other times in close concert. This report therefore necessarily seeks to add clarity and understanding in the practical measures in the action plan to how that shared endeavour can be best delivered in practice in deliverance of good governance, and how good quality decision making can lead ultimately to better outcomes for local residents.
- 5. Elected Members' duties and powers in decision making are generally at a higher level than those delegated to Officers, though in taking those decisions Members necessarily and appropriately rely on the advice and assistance of professional Officers, and occasionally through Officers on the further advice of external expert professionals commissioned to assist. In contrast, those powers held by Officers in decision making are in large part delegated to them from Members although they also have some duties given to them in their own right by Law and in either case, they hold their own responsibility and accountability for their actions and decisions. Necessarily therefore each element in this action plan falls into one of two categories: either those decisions reserved to Members in line with the law and/or the Council's Constitution which they are asked to decide and then separately those other actions relating to responsibilities which are held by Officers, either delegated

- in the course of deliverance of their professional duties, or else (occasionally) held statutorily in their own rights, which Members are asked instead only to note.
- 6. Unusually, this Officer report contains not only the name of its lead author, the Chief Executive, who would routinely be supported in its drafting by other relevant lead officers. Instead, this report at its head carries the names also of the Director of Planning (as the professional lead adviser to the Council on all planning matters), the Section 151 Officer (who carries statutory responsibility in his own right for certain matters of financial propriety). The Monitoring Officer (who carries statutory responsibility in her own right for certain issues of good governance), is not shown as a co-author, as she was absent on leave in the fortnight in which this report was written, reviewed and published. This is to reinforce that this report represents a broader settled and unanimous assessment and advice to Councillors from a range of senior Officers.

#### Recommendations

- 7. That those action plan changes requiring changes to either the Council's Constitution or explicitly to future Member behaviours as clearly identified thematically in each section of the report are <u>approved</u>.
- 8. Specifically, that Council forms a Task and Finish Group to consider draft Constitutional Changes as proposed in section 15.2.2, to be made up of one member each nominated by the Conservative and Independent party groups, and two members from the joint Liberal Democrat and Green group, alongside five members nominated by the majority Residents for Uttlesford group.
- 9. That those action plan changes relating to operational processes and approaches in areas either delegated to Officers or else held independently by Officers statutorily in their own rights again as clearly identified thematically in each section of the report are noted.

### **Financial Implications**

10. The direct or immediate financial implications of this report and its adoption are extremely limited. The indirect or longer-term financial implications are in contrast potentially extensive, as this action plan is intended to protect the authority from future substantial legal costs in pursuance of future decision making and operation of Council services.

### **Background Papers**

- 11. The following papers were referred to by the author in the preparation of this report and are available for inspection from the author of the report.
  - The report of the independent expert review into the Council's handling of the Stansted Airport expansion application, 2017-2021
  - The Council's Constitution

## **Impact**

12. Various elements of the impact of this action plan are addressed in more detail in the body of the report. At a headline level, the impact of this action plan is:

Communication/Consultation	Issues around the quality and consistency of communication, both orally and in writing, largely internally to the Council between Members and Officers but also externally, are at the heart of a sizeable proportion of the matter.
Community Safety	None directly – beyond positive outcomes in this regard being more likely to be delivered through improved governance.
Equalities	None directly – beyond positive outcomes in this regard being more likely to be delivered through improved governance.
Health and Safety	None directly – beyond positive outcomes in this regard being more likely to be delivered through improved governance.
Human Rights/Legal Implications	Issues around governance, are at the heart of a sizeable proportion of the matter, and are addressed extensively in the main body of this report.
Sustainability	None directly – notwithstanding that the subject of the Stansted Airport issue itself related closely to environmental sustainability – beyond positive outcomes in this regard being more likely to be delivered through improved governance.
Ward-specific impacts	All wards
Workforce/Workplace	Issues around systems of staff working, management and accountability are central to this action plan, the introduction of which will also contribute positively to staff recruitment and retention issues.

### **Situation**

- 13. Considering financial implications as part of considering individual planning applications
- 13.1 Narrative:

- 13.1.1 Matters which are relevant to consider when determining a planning application whether to approve it, to approve it with imposition of conditions, or to reject it are relatively tightly defined by statute and precedent. This is the case whether that application is taken under delegated powers by Officers or else escalated for decision at Planning Committee. By the nature of the criteria for escalating individual applications to the Planning Committee, those that also have substantial financial implications to the authority are essentially a subset of the Major Applications considered at committee.
- 13.1.2 The basic requirement for good governance applies to quasi-judicial consideration of individual cases on their own merits at the Planning Committee as much as it does to any other aspect of Council decision making, namely **the Wednesdbury Test**: good decisions are those on which all proper and material considerations are weighed whilst all irrelevant factors are put aside and not allowed to influence the decision made.
- 13.1.3 Any such Major Application is potentially expensive to the authority should it be appealed to the Planning Inspectorate. Should the Council's case at such an appeal be considered materially weak by the Inspector appointed, there is the potential for the Inspector to order that the reasonable costs incurred by the appellant are also met by the authority.
- 13.1.4 In relation to the Stansted Airport expansion appeal, the Council's own costs ran to just over £1 million. In that case, the Inspector found that the authority's case at appeal was so materially weak as to make it appropriate to order that the appellant's reasonable costs were also met by the Council. Those costs are still being negotiated between the authority and the Airport, and were subject to a public report to Council in June 2022, in which Members authorised Officers to offer £1.4 million in settlement thereof
- 13.1.5 Costs to the authority in recent history of such appeals have been substantial, albeit none in the same league as the costs of the Stansted appeal costs, both direct to the authority and costs of the appellant awarded against the authority.
- 13.1.6 The total net expenditure on the full range of Council services in each of those years is approximately £16 million, so it can be seen that the costs of servicing Planning Appeals whether won or lost is a substantial proportion of the authority's budget, with any costs in excess of budgetary provision needing to be met from reserves. These are legitimate costs, and every Planning Authority needs to make suitable provision for such expenditure as the cost of doing business in defending its entirely legitimate duty to reject inappropriate planning applications.
- 13.1.7 The ultimate decision to either approve or reject planning applications is not an exact science, even when properly applying the Wednesbury Principles. Having a proportion of decisions appealed is actually a positive indicator of the Planning Authority's overall effectiveness. If none were

- appealed, this might be an indicator that an authority had become overly timid in its proper use of its powers to reject anything more than absolutely open-and-shut cases of fatally flawed applications.
- 13.1.8 It is an unarquable reality that Uttlesford District Council is in a weaker position than other authorities in being able to confidently defend any rejected applications taken to appeal by the applicant because of the combination of not having an up to dateLocal Plan in place [which is the subject of extensive work reported elsewhere to remedy], of not having a 5 year housing land supply at the level required by Government [which is again being addressed through the Local Plan process], and of being currently the only English local authority placed in 'special measures' by Government as a result of exceeding the upper ratio established nationally for proportion of major applications overturned at appeal [which is being addressed through a detailed action plan of its own, which is routinely reported to Councillors elsewhere]. The widespread knowledge of this situation potentially creates a vicious cycle in which applicants disappointed by rejection of their application may perceive that they have a greater chance of success if they were to appeal (compared to other council areas across the country), and thus generate more appeals and increase costs to the authority, even if the Council successfully defends against those appeals.
- 13.1.9 Notwithstanding the sizeable costs to the authority of planning appeals won or lost and the relative weakness of the authority (and the potential impact of the perception thereof), the potential cost of an appeal is not a legitimate and material consideration for members of the Planning Committee to factor into their decision making over any individual application before them. Every single planning application must be considered solely against relevant considerations and on its own merits, and not part of a bigger picture relating to affordability overall of defending planning appeals.
- 13.1.10 It would therefore be entirely and wholly wrong to make any systems changes or to promote any behavioural changes that led Members of the Planning Committee to consider the risk and scale of individual costs at appeal before they decide to either approve or reject any specific application before them. Recently introduced mandatory training for Members of the Planning Committee (building on years of earlier such training long since in place) has reinforced this point.
- 13.1.11 The independent expert review rightly drew attention to the difference between on the one hand the advice (such as in the financial implications section of the report to full Council in June 2019) which were stark and unequivocal in highlighting the impact and likelihood of substantial abortive expenditure flowing from an appeal should the previous planning decision be materially altered to the detriment of the Airport as applicant and on the other hand the almost cursory and mildly-phrased financial implications section of the report to Planning Committee in January 2020. To be clear, this contrast was appropriate and proper, as it would have been improper to encourage Members at that Planning Committee to continue to approve

- the application on the grounds of the likelihood of substantial costs which we now know to be well into seven figures.
- 13.1.12 Having made clear that the implications of the Wednesdbury Test as applied to all future considerations of the Planning Committee as they have been in the past, there is though an entirely appropriate general approach which can legitimately and clearly needs to be further reinforced in training for Members of the Planning Committee, but also for all other Members who do not sit on the Planning Committee.
- 13.1.13 Councillors who do not sit on the Planning Committee also have a role in calling in individual applications for consideration by their colleagues at the Planning Committee, where they would otherwise be decided by Officers under delegated powers. It is therefore important that all 39 Councillors are better trained on and made aware of the overall implications to the authority's delivery of wider service and outcome ambitions that flow consequentially from the costs of those appeals.
- 13.1.14 As illustrated by the airport expansion application that triggered the commissioning of the independent expert review, Councillors who do not sit on the Planning Committee also potentially played a role deciding whether to refer back a matter to the Planning Committee for fresh consideration. The number of such considerations for referral back may indeed increase as a result of other recommendations arising from this independent expert review, so it is doubly important that all 39 Councillors understand the wider context and implications of costs of appeals, particularly lost appeals.
- 13.1.15 Put simply, Councillors need to be better supported and reinforced in their understanding that the costs flowing from appeals generally, particularly lost appeals, are significantly harmful to the delivery of their overall policy objectives, and that the importance of taking the appropriate decision on a quasi-judicial basis of any individual application before the Planning Committee is acute, even though the individual cost of a potential appeal (won or lost) against that individual decision before them is very explicitly not a proper material consideration. Councillors not sitting on the Planning Committee need also to be better supported and reinforced in their understanding of how these issues are also for them, albeit at a lower level than covered by the mandatory training already in place for Members of the Planning Committee itself.

### 13.2 Action plan elements requiring formal Member decision:

- 13.2.1 That Members add to their recent decision to make training mandatory for all Planning Committee members, in deciding to make training compulsory for all Councillors at an appropriate level addressing the points covered in sections 12.1.12 to 12.1.15 above.
- 13.2.2 That Members agree that this additional general Member training should be developed and delivered as soon as possible, and then delivered afresh

following the May 2023 elections, with annual refreshers thereafter, and also urgently individually to any new Members elected at by-elections.

# 13.3 Action plan elements to be implemented by Officers as delegated/on their own authority:

- 13.3.1 Officers will develop the training for all Councillors at an appropriate level addressing the points covered in sections 12.1.12 to 12.1.15 above, and deliver it as approved by Members in sections 12.2.1 and 12.2.2 above.
- 13.3.2 Officers will urgently review the wording used in the financial implications section of reports to Planning Committee with a view to striking the most appropriate balance between proper considerations for Members to consider as part of their quasi-judicial judgment on the application before them [where risk and financial impact of potential appeal is <u>not</u> a proper material consideration] but without running the risk of inadvertently and wholly wrongly giving the impression to Members that there is simply no financial downside to the overall pattern of appeals and associated costs when so very clearly there is.
- 13.3.3 Senior Officers will assess and act accordingly to address any broader training implications on this issue for staff, both technically and around behaviours, including with a specific focus on Member/Officer relations, and 'telling truth to power'.

# 14. Decision Notices following consideration of individual planning applications

### 14.1 Narrative:

- 14.1.1 The capturing, recording and conveying to both applicants and other interested parties of important elements of detail in giving effect to decisions on applications at the Planning Committee is necessarily complex.
- 14.1.2 Decision Notices containing this detail often take some time to be finalised by Officers after the meeting of the Planning Committee in question, although clearly this needs to be as speedy as is reasonably practicable.
- 14.1.3 Because of the technical complexity required in this process, the drafting and issuing of Decision Notices is necessarily a professional task, and is therefore appropriately delegated to Officers.
- 14.1.4 Any requirement for the Planning Committee to routinely consider and approve draft Decision Notices at a future meeting would be undesirable in terms of the delays it would lead to, and because of the volume of such notices, it would also be an unreasonable demand on Members' scarce time. It would also be an unreasonable expectation to place on Members that they took responsibility for signing off such technical documents without often substantial additional advice deconstructing and explaining each such Decision Notice if it were taken back to Committee meaning

- that any such change to routine procedure would also place a very substantial additional burden on Officers in terms of workload.
- 14.1.5 Notwithstanding the rationale for delegated responsibility to Officers for the drafting and then issuing of Decision Notices set out in sections 13.1.1-13.1.4 above the independent expert review of the Stansted Airport expansion decision which has triggered this process highlights an important anomaly, which has also been the subject of considerable Member discussion, namely how the Planning Committee of January 2020 in reconsidering the Stansted expansion application, on referral back by full Council in June 2019, reached a decision to reject but that the subsequent Decision Notice delegated to Officers instead showed a decision to accept but subject to important conditions.
- 14.1.6 For avoidance of doubt, it is clear that Officers, under their delegated powers, issued this Decision Notice in good faith and to seek to give effect to the desired outcome of the Planning Committee namely to halt the proposed substantial increase in airport passenger numbers that was the clear policy objective behind the Planning Committee's vote to reject. This approach was clearly taken by Officers under their delegated powers because of the weight of best professional advice that the Planning Committee's intent would less likely be achieved by issuing a Decision Notice to reject rather than one which accepted subject to conditions so onerous as to likely frustrate the expansion. This decision was clearly taken specifically in anticipation of how to defend the appeal.
- 14.1.7 Ultimately, as is a simple matter of history, the appeal found in favour of the Airport and the go-ahead for the expansion was given and the imposition of such onerous conditions lay behind the published reasoning of the Inspector to award costs against the authority.
- 14.1.8 Although it cannot be said with the absolute certainty of lived history that the outcome of the appeal would have been the same, including costs also awarded against the authority, should the Decision Notice have been one showing outright rejection rather than acceptance on strict and onerous conditions, it is clearly the weight of best professional advice that this negative conclusion would have been even more likely. Put another way, the acceptance but on imposition of onerous conditions was an ultimately fruitless attempt, but it was attempted because it stood possibly greater chance of success in defending the appeal than any attempt to defend a flat rejection would have been.
- 14.1.9 That all notwithstanding, looking to the future, there is certainly a strong argument that any professional decision taken by Officers under delegated powers to so materially alter the basic decision on any application taken at Planning Committee (whether from a rejection to an acceptance but under strict and onerous conditions as in this case, or any other such material shift) should be referred back to the Planning Committee for fresh decision before enactment. Although this would generate fresh work in a detailed Officer report explaining the apparent anomaly and the reason for an onthe-face-of-it different/contradictory approach, and it would also potentially

- risk a delay, it would be ultimately beneficial in terms of transparency and public accountability.
- 14.1.10 This same principle should also be applied equally to any other kind of decision taken by any other Council Committee where a Committee decision in its implementation appears to be materially altered once delegated to Officers, even if such a fresh approach were taken following a professional assessment of how best to achieve the original policy decision imperative.

### 14.2 Action plan elements requiring formal Member decision:

- 14.2.1 To commission Officers to urgently bring back for full Council debate and decision any Constitutional amendment necessary to give life to the actions proposed in 13.1.9 [re the Planning Committee] and 13.1.10 [re all other formal decision making for a] above.
- 14.2.2 That Members undertake to actively participate in any training developed to support them in operating within this new referral back process importantly to understand their role in considering complex technical factors, understanding the importance of avoiding the risks associated with seeking to apply matters of professional expertise outside their role in substituting their own technical solutions beyond those contained in options brought before them.

# 14.3 Action plan elements to be implemented by Officers as delegated/on their own authority:

- 14.3.1 To urgently prepare such Constitutional amendments as necessary to give life to the actions proposed in 13.1.9 [re the Planning Committee] and 13.1.10 [re all other formal decision making for a] above under the Chief Executive's own authority, even if not commissioned to do so under recommendation 13.2.1 above.
- 14.3.2 Pending any Constitutional changes being agreed as per section 13.2.1 above, Officers will be instructed with immediate effect by the Chief Executive to bring forward any such cases as would be covered by such Constitutional changes for him to consider taking back to the relevant Committee under his own authority, with those reports containing lawful options open to the Members along with clear advice on the route best likely to achieve their previously settled policy decision.
- 14.3.3 To prepare henceforth an annual report to go to the Council's Governance, Audit and Performance Committee listing any individual uses from this date forwards of these new procedures and seeking to draw out any issues or trends from the broader picture, with recommendations and learning points as necessary.
- 14.3.4 Senior Officers will assess and act accordingly to address any broader training implications on this issue for staff, both technically and around

behaviours, including with a specific focus on Member/Officer relations, and 'telling truth to power'.

### 15. Management of Planning Appeals

#### 15.1 Narrative:

- 15.1.1 As can be seen from the table in para 12.1.5 above, the authority routinely defends planning appeals from applicants when either their appeal has been rejected, or approved but with what they consider to be unreasonably onerous conditions, or on grounds of non-determination.
- 15.1.2 As alluded to in 12.1.6 and 12.1.7 above, being taken to Appeal by an applicant is a natural, proper and even healthy element of an effectively operating Planning Authority.
- 15.1.3 By definition, the Planning Authority is going to want to defend its decisions at appeal. This is because the authority should only take planning decisions (and decisions generally) that it is proud to stand behind and defend. In planning terms, it is never acceptable for the authority to either reject an application without solid grounds for doing so, nor to approve it with conditions it believes to be unreasonably onerous in the hope that the applicant will simply back off and not choose to appeal.
- 15.1.4 As a general rule therefore, every appealed planning determination will rightly be vigorously defended.
- 15.1.5 As explored above, this can be a very expensive process, even just in the Council's own costs, as a successful defence will often require the commissioning of additional expert evidence (in terms of reports, and potentially in-person expert witness attendance at the Appeal itself), as well as using a barrister, possibly consultants, and in considerable staff time.
- 15.1.6 A balance will in each case need to be struck between constraining the Council's costs incurred and the likelihood of the input required to enable the Council to have the best chance to win. A further consideration is that an appeals can in some circumstances lead to the awarding of costs against the authority, meaning that a greater expenditure up front by the Council will need to be weighed against an assessment of external costs which may be awarded against it.
- 15.1.7 Striking this balance is not an exact science, but it is a matter of professional judgment best taken by the professional experts the authority employs.
- 15.1.8 The grounds on which the authority's defence is mounted will normally be straightforward the defence will be on the grounds of the Decision Notice prepared and issued by Officers under their delegated powers, which in turn will reflect the decision taken (whether at Planning Committee or else directly by Officers under their delegated powers). Circumstances in which there is still discretion on which grounds to defend an appeal are dealt with in section 13 above ie where an Appeal is lodged before a Decision

- Notice is issued. This section [14] therefore seeks only to address the nature of the defence decisions in terms of scale and approach, rather than on underlying grounds.
- 15.1.9 It would seem sensible that the management of each Appeal is governed by an individual Appeal Management Strategy, setting out both allocation of resources and choice of tactical focus ie main grounds for argument. Necessarily such Appeal Management Strategy will be highly sensitive, as they would be of massive use to the appellant should they be leaked, and so they will be highly restricted documents amongst relevant Officers and others such as any barrister commissioned, and potentially witnesses called.
- 15.1.10 Where possible, a shorter and less sensitive summary version should be afforded to Members, as well as to interested members of the public and to partners, such as interested Parish Councils, who often follow such appeals closely, and attend them in person. The publication of this desensitised version a Summary Appeal Management Plan will help reinforce Member, public and partner confidence, as well as serving our fundamental general commitment to transparency.
- 15.1.11 As with any such system, it is sensible to have a review mechanism to technically quality assure whilst they are live, and to review post implementation. In a Member-led organisation such as Uttlesford District Council, it will also be appropriate to brief Members and allow them to quality assure the broader application of this process over time.

### 15.2 Action plan elements requiring formal Member decision:

15.2.1 That Members undertake to actively participate in any briefing developed to support them in operating within this individual Summary Appeal Management Plan process, as well as with periodic reports summarising the issues associated with appeals over that period, including any lessons to be learned and implemented generally.

# 15.3 Action plan elements to be implemented by Officers as delegated/on their own authority:

- 15.3.1 The Director of Planning will review the current approach to handling Planning Appeals, and introduce a new system for instituting confidential Planning Appeal Plans and publishing Summary Planning Appeal Strategies as he considers appropriate and proportionate, including quality assuring individual plans prior to adoption at a suitably senior level.
- 15.3.2 The Director of Planning will also consider and implement a new periodic review process for both confidential discussion in more granular and confidential detail amongst Officers and expert partners, as well as perhaps annually at a higher level with Councillors, albeit with fewer specifics that give away less general strategy of value to future appellants.

- 15.3.3 The Director of Planning will also consider the partnership approach with other interested parties also represented at Appeals, including (but not limited to) Parish/Town Councils. This should reflect synergies and shared objectives whilst also maintaining an appropriate distinction where interests are not necessarily 100% aligned.
- 15.3.4 Officers will develop and deliver briefings/training on this approach to Members, with Parishes, and at a headline explanatory level to members of the public.
- 15.3.5 Senior Officers will assess and act accordingly to address any broader training implications on this issue for staff, both technically and around behaviours, including with a specific focus on Member/Officer relations, and 'telling truth to power'.

### 16. Revisiting decisions previously formally taken

### 16.1 Narrative:

- 16.1.1 It is rightly truly exceptional for any individual case (whether it is a planning application or any other element of council business, such as a licensing application or a grant application) to be considered once, decided on, enacted (to whatever degree) only then for the original decision to be revisited afresh. Such second-guessing leads to uncertainty, lack of transparency, and a greater likelihood of unfairness, inconsistency and inequity. The impacts on third parties who are relying on the Council making a decision and sticking to it are particularly acute – and in a general sense, likely to lead to negative impacts and increased costs on their part, which they would unsurprisingly often want to seek to reclaim from the authority. There is also a clear division of responsibilities between key decisions reserved for elected Councillors and for the mass of more routine, lower-level decisions delegated to Officers – and the clarity for this division is as set out in the Schedule of Delegated Powers. This reinforces the general point for key decisions that 'Officers advise, but elected members decide'.
- 16.1.2 In contrast, with policy decisions, it is routine good practice to reconsider them and refresh them in light of experience and changing external circumstances from time to time, such as on an annual/four-yearly basis. Refreshed and revised policies should of course in general be applied prospectively (from that point or a future date onwards) and not retrospectively, as this too would likely lead to confusion, unfairness and potential claims against the authority.
- 16.1.3 The Stansted Airport expansion application subject of the independent expert review commissioned by the Council is of course one such case where the Planning Committee decided on the original planning application to approve it only then to have the matter referred by vote of full Council after an all-out election back to the Planning Committee.

- 16.1.4 Members were advised in that case that although they did indeed have the power to make such a referral back, there were considerable risks and likely costs (both financial and reputational) if they were to do so (and were the Planning Committee to not simply re-approve the application). At a simplistic level, all any aggrieved party needs to do to contest a decision of a body that first decided one way and then the other is to play back the decision maker's own words/logic from the time they decided on the occasion that suits the third party's preferred outcome.
- 16.1.5 One of the clear implications arising from this review which requires action is therefore around Member training to better understand such risks should they consider such a comparable option in future. This should clearly better support Members in understanding factors generally related to the subject under consideration but which are not always aligned with the proper material considerations allowed for in law.
- 16.1.6 The independent expert review does though clearly conclude that there does need to be better and more formal explicit Constitutional provision for reconsideration of various matters in certain exceptional circumstances. It says at para 1.4

"There was a clear error of judgment by both Councillors and Officers in failing to secure an automatic review procedure, following the decision of the Extraordinary Committee Meeting in January 2020 to refuse the Proposal against Officer advice."

16.1.7 And continues on that theme in the recommendations section at sections 15.3-15.5:

"In our view, this was the product of a system failure rather than the mistake of an individual Councillor and Officer, that centred upon the absence of sufficient oversight in the provision of an automatic procedure of monitoring, review and reassessment. Again, this mechanism should have been put in place by both Councillors and Officers at the Extraordinary Committee Meeting in January 2020 in response to the obvious reputational and costs risk. The absence of these arrangements placed Officers in an invidious position because they had been tasked in the formulation of an apparently hopeless case that was very clearly politically charged and in the absence of any apparent 'safety net' or other form of safeguard.

The absence of oversight was then compounded by the approach taken by the professional team under the supervision of the relevant Officers who had delegated authority and the conduct of the appeal case. Those Officers supervised and endorsed the transition of the appeal case from the terms of the RoR to the presented case at Inquiry of conditional approval of the Proposal. It must, in turn, have been the case that the identified risk could only increase (in prospect and cost) with each step taken to justify the RoR on the terms identified in evidence.

The remedy is to provide an automatic referral process in specific circumstances where there is a significant cost or reputation risk to UDC and to imbed these terms in the Constitution. Those arrangements would safeguard both Councillors

and Officers and, ultimately, would operate in the best interests of the local authority and members of the public."

## 16.1.8 And specifically in para 14.6

"In this context, the obvious remedy would be to extend the provisions of Article 13.3.2 of Part 2 of the Constitution that define those "key decisions by or on behalf of the Leader or Cabinet" to provide an automatic referral process in specific circumstances. We would recommend that this is achieved by the extension of the categories of decisions identified at Article 13.3.2 to include:

"The decision relates to a planning proposal likely to potentially result in a cost award against the Council in excess of  $\pounds[X]00,000$  or the provision of external professional services in excess of  $\pounds[X]00,000$ ""

- 16.1.9 This provides both an argument that there needs to be provision for an automatic review process, as well as introducing a financial trigger above an as-yet unspecified number of hundreds of thousands of pounds worth of costs.
- 16.1.10 The building of this trigger around the word 'likely' suggests perhaps a minimum threshold of better-than-50:50 chance of incurring such costs, and that is necessarily subjective. It would also suggest that the trigger would not be met if the professional advice was that there was a 60:40 chance of not incurring costs above that threshold it a 40% likelihood of potentially costing maybe millions of pounds, but not hitting the trigger.
- 16.1.11 Although there is necessarily some inexactitude in putting a cost to an enquiry before it has even started, this too could be worked through to make good use of such a phrasing for a trigger.
- 16.1.12 Although Planning Committee decisions are very much quasi-judicial and not matters for the Cabinet, nor indeed for full Council to reverse, once a decision has been taken by the Planning Committee, it is indeed potentially appropriate to refer back to either Cabinet or full Council.
- 16.1.13 It is a matter of fine judgment if the referral to Cabinet served a sufficiently positive purpose if Cabinet in turn needed to recommend reconsideration to full Council for full Council to refer the matter back to the Planning Committee.
- 16.1.14 Considering the time sensitivity of Planning Committee matters, it might be considered advantageous instead to grant named Officers the power to short-circuit this proposed new review process, by using powers to refer the matter straight to full Council (which of course also has the power to appoint and dismiss Members from the Planning Committee).
- 16.1.15 As such, the Chief Executive instead offers the similar construction for a Constitutional amendment in the form of:
- 16.1.16 "Where a decision relates to a planning decision with a substantial likelihood of resulting in costs to the Council in excess of £200,000 by way of costs awards

and/or or the provision of external professional services the Chief Executive shall take a report in a timely fashion to a meeting of full Council to discuss and determine whether to refer back to the Planning Committee for reconsideration. There shall only be one such referral per application, with the Planning Committee entitled to reconfirm its decision without further such referral back."

16.1.17 The recommendation below to this affect affords Members the opportunity to discuss and debate this wording, as well as for Officers to seek further expert advice thereon before bringing back proposed Constitutional amendments to full Council for decision. This further reinforces the point that although additional powers are proposed for Officers to be able, in exceptional circumstances only, to be able to refer a matter back to Members for reconsideration, that it will still be for such key decisions that 'Officers advise, but elected Members decide'.

### 16.2 Action plan elements requiring formal Member decision:

- 16.2.1 That Members undertake to actively participate in any training developed to support them in operating within this approach to the exceptional cases where pre-existing casework decisions are revisited.
- 16.2.2 That Members establish a new task-and-finish working group to consider the wording of a potential Constitutional amendment as discussed in sections 15.1.6 to 15.1.15 and as currently drafted in section 15.1.16.
- 16.3 Action plan elements to be implemented by Officers as delegated/on their own authority:
- 16.3.1 To develop and deliver such Member training.
- 16.3.2 Senior Officers will assess and act accordingly to address any broader training implications on this issue for staff, both technically and around behaviours, including with a specific focus on Member/Officer relations, and 'telling truth to power'.
- 16.3.3 To support the Member task and finish group proposed in section 15.2.2 above.

# 17. Provision of expert advice to Members in support of their decision making

#### 17.1 Narrative:

- 17.1.1 The Council employs staff, with years of relevant experience, and requiring professional qualifications and ongoing continuous professional development in their field. This is routinely supplemented as necessary by the commissioning of external expert advice, usually because the matter at hand is so specialist, although also at times because of reasons of inhouse capacity.
- 17.1.2 Councillors come with an electoral mandate and a range of skills, knowledge, experience that Officers do not have particularly the ongoing

direct link to understanding our residents' lived experiences and priorities. Councillors routinely develop considerable knowledge in the areas of council services they spend most time on, particularly in the case of Planning Committee members, who pick up a huge amount of relevant detail over the years. Although sometimes Councillors also have professional skills from their own careers that come to the table with them, it is important for them to rely on the best professional advice they are given and to apply their best judgment to it, rather than seek to out-expert the experts.

- 17.1.3 This joint enterprise between Councillors and Officers (and external experts commissioned) is more often than not a well-trodden and highly productive relationship.
- 17.1.4 Decisions taken at different levels needs to be (and generally is) clearly distinguished, both by our Constitution and by the accompanying Schedule of Delegated Powers. Earlier sections in this action plan tease out some areas at the margins between Member decision making and delegated Officer powers requiring some tweaking.
- 17.1.5 It is particularly important in taking decisions that there is a clear audit trail, that supports Members and Officers to show that the Wednesbury Principles are being followed. Officer reports are constructed to enable that.
- 17.1.6 The independent expert review report does however point at multiple occasions in the handling of the Stansted Airport expansion application where the audit trail and thus the evidence of strong governance is considerably wanting, if not downright absent particularly when it came to the advice received from external experts, mainly leading barristers.
- 17.1.7 The independent external review reveals quite clearly how many of those external consultations had no real audit trail. This has been a matter of understandable consternation to various Councillors, including Members of the Task and Finish Group established by the Scrutiny Committee to see that this independent expert review process was properly completed, and reported up to Scrutiny and full Council, as it now has been.
- 17.1.8 Where some Members of the Task and Finish Group expressed a wish for further evidence to be taken, including from interviewing various Councillors, Officers and external third parties who took part in those various exchanges to try to get closer to who said what, the Chief Executive advised that this was not possible on two grounds. Firstly, and most importantly, the expectation that a clear and consistent 'single version of truth' would somehow emerge from seeking to interview dozens of different people who sat through lengthy discussions now some years ago, is so unlikely as to be a hopeless mission. Secondly, the cost and time that would almost certainly be taken up by such a process would be disproportionate to the almost certainly vague outcome it would produce.

- 17.1.9 This view is shared by the independent expert commissioned to carry out the report. He would not accept the commission to do that work even if we did think it a good idea and the use of many extra tens of thousands of pounds of taxpayers' money.
- 17.1.10 Importantly though, Members can take value from the conclusions that the independent expert reviewer has included in his report and from which positive, valuable learning can be drawn for the future.
- 17.1.11 The first positive learning point is around audit trails and clarity of the important things that Members should take away from workshops or question-and-answer sessions with experts, whether in-house professionals or external consultants, QCs etc. Although free-flowing workshops and question-and-answer sessions can serve a valuable purpose, alongside formal, locked-down Officer reports, to make them fit properly into an audit trail and thus flow through to a clear and proper application of the Wednesbury Principles.
- 17.1.12 Specifically, any such workshop or question-and-answer session should have a clear framework set out in the invitation ie what will be covered. It may prove helpful to start off any such session with a presentation, and this too can be captured and shared as part of the audit trail showing how there has been a clear focus on relevant factors and a setting aside of irrelevant factors. Finally, any such meeting should be followed up routinely in future by a written note of key take-away points. Such a follow up note should explicitly not try and capture a whole one or two hours work of he-said-she-said, but instead focus down onto the key points ie those that Members should pay regard to in reaching any formal decision.
- 17.1.13 The independent expert review report also lays bare the somewhat extraordinary number of senior barristers from whom the authority sought advice on this one case. Even if there were very good reasons for seeking so many different external opinions, one obvious and entirely predictable outcome in terms of perception is that the authority kept on trying QCs until it could find one whose advice sufficiently fitted its world view enough to carry on towards its desired course of action, regardless of the risks.

### 17.2 Action plan elements requiring formal Member decision:

- 17.2.1 Members are invited to accept the principle that any future free-flowing workshops or question-and-answer sessions with experts (in-house or external) are going to be slightly more structured, and with the relevant points captured and shared in writing, so that they can be supported in fulfilling their duties under good governance to focus on relevant factors and disregard irrelevant factors.
- 17.2.2 Members are invited to accept the principle that for purposes of transparency, clear accountability, and good governance that should they wish for a second opinion on a matter, from an external expert, that this should be made through the relevant Officer, who will consider it, and seek agreement from the Chief Executive as necessary. Members should

- accept that although an external expert opinion will often be commissioned, the seeking of 'third opinions' will very rarely be approved.
- 17.2.3 Members are invited to accept the principle that if they have prior experience of any particular external expert positive or negative they are welcome to share this with the relevant Officer prior to the selection of any external expert, but that the principles on which a selection will be made are those as set out in 16.1.1 above.
- 17.2.4 That Members undertake to actively participate in any training developed to support them in operating within this approach to the exceptional cases where pre-existing casework decisions are revisited.

# 17.3 Action plan elements to be implemented by Officers as delegated/on their own authority:

- 17.3.1 The Chief Executive will ensure a clear expectation amongst Officers that on future occasions where there is a sense that Members will benefit from supplementing formal written Officer advice with free-flowing workshops or question-and-answer sessions, that these are organised in line with the principles set out in 16.1.12 above.
- 17.3.2 Further, the Chief Executive will instruct that Officers seek his personal approval prior to commissioning any second or subsequent external expert to provide advice on essentially the same matter, with that approval only likely to be given in genuinely exceptional circumstances.
- 17.3.3 The Chief Executive will instruct Officers that their first priority in selecting any external expert adviser is the quality and independence of that external advice, and that taking recommendations from any Member on who or who not to commission for that purpose is generally to be avoided. Moreover, Officers are to be instructed that if any Member does recommend selecting or avoiding any external expert unsolicited, then that should be promptly reported to the Chief Executive who will take a view as to how, if at all, that should be allowed to influence the selection of an external expert.
- 17.3.4 Senior Officers will assess and act accordingly to address any broader training implications on this issue for staff, both technically and around behaviours, including with a specific focus on Member/Officer relations, and 'telling truth to power'.

### **Risk Analysis**

18.

Risk	Likelihood	Impact	Mitigating actions
That publication of the independent expert review report and subsequent consideration of its	low	low	The authority has already published and publicly debated a report at full Council in

content in public undermines the ongoing costs negotiations between the authority and Stansted Airport			June 2022 making an offer to Stansted Airport in settlement of costs.
That the authority fails to learn and implement lessons from this matter	low	high	The cross party task and finish group that has worked on this process is illustrative of the whole council appetite to learn and implement positive learning. The commissioning of an independent expert to conduct the review adds to its credibility and objectivity.

<sup>1 =</sup> Little or no risk or impact2 = Some risk or impact – action may be necessary.

<sup>3 =</sup> Significant risk or impact – action required
4 = Near certainty of risk occurring, catastrophic effect or failure of project.